


Bradken is Australia’s leading foundry and engineering group 
providing customised consumable parts, capital equipment 
and associated maintenance and refurbishment services to 
the resources and freight rail industries.  Bradken services 
these industries through four product focused businesses, 

Mining, Mineral Processing, Rail and Industrial.

Employing over 2,600 people, Bradken 
operates 14 manufacturing facilities 

and more than 20 direct sales and 
service centres across Australia and in 
key international locations to meet our 

customers’ needs.

Whether it is customised consumable 
parts for the mining, steel making, 

smelting, transport and power 
generation industries or specialised 
freight wagons for the rail industry, 

Bradken proudly sets the benchmark for 
product innovation and quality 

in manufacture.

We’ve been doing this for more than 80 years.

A market leading supplier
 to the resources industry

Bradken Limited
ACN 108 693 009

Notice of Annual General Meeting
The Annual General Meeting of Bradken Limited will be held 
at the Sofitel Wentworth Sydney, James Cook Room, Level 5,
61 – 101 Phillip Street, Sydney NSW 2000 
on Thursday 27 October 2005 at 2:30pm.

A formal Notice of Meeting is enclosed.
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Highlights

 Successfully listed on the Australian Stock Exchange

 Met prospectus forecast

 Delivered sales revenue of $485.1 million, up 20% on 2004 

 Achieved earnings of $57.9 million, up 16% on 2004

 Declared a fully franked dividend of 14.3 cents

 Achieved month-on-month sales records for mining 
consumables

 Ramped up production capacity
• Foundry throughput up 18% on 2004
• 44 wagons produced per week in one facility

 Acquired a foundry in Henderson, Western Australia

 Opened a new maintenance and refurbishment facility in Mackay, Queensland

In a year of strong Australian mine 
production growth, Bradken has:
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$ million FY05 FY04*

10 Months Ended 
30 June Year Ended 30 June

Year Ended 30 
June

Statutory Pro-forma** Prospectus* Pro-forma

Sales revenue 416.7 485.1 459.5 404.3

EBITDA 51.1 57.9 56.5 50.1

NPAT 14.1 15.3 15.2 N/A

Dividend 14.3 cents 14.3 cents 14.3 cents N/A

*Per Prospectus dated 9 August 2004
**Pro-forma 12 month period ended 30 June 2005
EBITDA – Earnings Before Interest, Tax, Depreciation and Amortisation
NPAT – Net Profit After Tax

Pro-forma Financial Information
The statutory results as presented for Bradken in this Annual Report reflect the 
10 month operational period from 20 August 2004 to 30 June 2005, which 
is the period following the Initial Public Offering of Bradken Limited. As Bradken 
Limited did not trade prior to 20 August 2004 there are no previous period 
comparisons included in the statutory results.

To allow meaningful comparison with the forecast and historical information 
contained in the Prospectus dated 9 August 2004, reference is made to the 
pro-forma results for the year ended 30 June 2005. All comments within 
the Chairman’s Report, Managing Director’s Report and business segment 
review are based on these pro-forma results. The pro-forma results include the 
financial results of the operating entities that formed Bradken Limited for the 
period from 1 July 2004 to 19 August 2004, and may be reconciled to the 
statutory results accordingly:

$ million Sales revenue EBITDA NPAT

Pro-forma FY05 results 485.1 57.9 15.3

Less: Trading prior to 20 August 2004 (68.4) (6.8) (1.2)

Statutory FY05 results 416.7 51.1 14.1
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CHAIRMAN’S REPORT

Nick Greiner
Chairman

 I am pleased to present this 
first Chairman’s Report for 
Bradken Limited.

Since the listing of your 
Company in August 2004, 
the Board has focused on 
ensuring the Company’s 
smooth transition into the 
public arena.

Accordingly, the Directors 
have adopted corporate 

governance policies and 
practices designed to 

promote and support responsible 
management of the Bradken 
business. The Directors have 
established two sub-committees, 
the Audit Committee and the 
Remuneration Committee.

We continue to invest in our people 
and improving our environmental 

and occupational health and 
safety performance.

The Board  is delighted that 
the Company has performed 
ahead of the prospectus 
forecast and that it has further 

strengthened its sound financial and operating base 
from which to grow.

Underlying the Company’s solid performance is 
increasing global demand for Australian mining 
commodities led by China and its insatiable appetite for 
steel. Domestically, the long term structural increase 
in freight rail transport and the trend to move freight 
from road to rail will continue to provide business 
opportunities.

In keeping with the strategy outlined in the prospectus, 
Bradken has continued to enhance its market leading 
position to the resources industry by injecting capital 
to increase its capability and capacity to service and 
grow with its diverse resource and freight rail industry 
customer base.

Further, we have successfully completed our first 
acquisition being the Henderson Foundry acquired 
in March 2005. This business has now been 
successfully integrated and is performing in line with 
our expectations. In addition, Bradken has opened a new 
facility in Mackay, Queensland.

The Board is continuing to review opportunities for other 
acquisitions and growth opportunities that will enhance 
our presence in existing markets.

Market outlook for the key sectors in which we operate 
remains positive. We are confident about the financial 
prospects for the Company in 2005/06, the first full 
year as a listed company.

The Directors declared interim and final dividends 
consistent with the prospectus forecast and would 
generally expect the dividend to grow from this base in 
line with the movements in profitability.

On behalf of the Board, I would like to express our 
thanks to Brian Hodges and his management team for 
their excellent contribution during the year. We believe 
the quality of our management and operating staff is 
outstanding and a key part of the Company’s continued 
success.

Nick Greiner
Chairman
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MANAGING DIRECTOR’S REPORT

2005 has been both a demanding and rewarding year 
for Bradken and our people. We have achieved some 
significant milestones during the year including the 
successful listing of Bradken Limited shares on the 
Australian Stock Exchange in August 2004.

Bradken has continued to capture significant organic 
growth in the Australian resources and freight 
rail industries. We have enhanced the production 
capacity of our existing facilities as well as acquiring 
a complementary foundry business in Henderson, 
Western Australia. The Company has also opened a new 
facility in Mackay Queensland, specifically designed to 
construct, maintain and refurbish large dragline buckets 
for the mining industry.

Buoyant resource volumes underpin strong result

Bradken achieved sales of $485.1 million, representing 
a 20% increase over 2004 levels.

This result was driven by increased volume across 
all four of Bradken’s businesses, Mining, Mineral 
Processing, Rail and Industrial. Sales from the 
consumable parts businesses reflected the increase in 
world demand for Australia’s raw materials, in particular 
iron ore and coal. The demand for rail capital products 
remained strong as a result of global demand for iron 
ore and the ongoing shift of Australian freight volumes 
from road to rail.

The Company reported an EBITDA result of $57.9 
million for the year to June 2005 against a prospectus 
forecast of $56.5 million. Bradken achieved an overall 
EBITDA margin of 11.9%, being 11.4% in the first half of 
the year and 12.4% in the second.

The first half of the year saw 
rapid increases in alloy costs, 
principally molybdenum, 
leading to temporary profit 
margin erosion. This was 
caused by Bradken being 
unable to pass on cost 
increases for orders taken 
which were already being 
processed. Revised price 
arrangements and alloy 
specifications were put in place 
so neither the Company nor its 
customers were disadvantaged. 
Margins returned to normal and 
showed some expansion in the 
second half of 2005.

Net Profit After Tax for the full 
year was $15.3 million, slightly 
exceeding our prospectus forecast 
of $15.2 million.

Bradken is generating strong 
cashflows, allowing the Company 
to fund working capital and 
capital expenditure requirements, 
as we meet the 
growth needs of 
our resources and 
freight rail industry 
customers. 
Bradken’s balance sheet gearing (net debt : net debt 
plus equity) stands at 36%.

A partner to the resources and freight rail industries

Bradken’s 2005 result is testament to the success 
of our clear and simple business strategy. That is, to 
enhance our capacity and capability to benefit from 
the expected growth in the resources and freight rail 
industries.

Brian Hodges
Managing Director 

and Chief Executive Officer
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MANAGING DIRECTOR’S REPORT 
(continued)
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We have injected significant capital to expand our 
manufacturing capacity across our foundry and 
fabrication facilities. This has seen an increase in foundry 
throughput of 18% over the previous year.

The Company is continuing to invest in the training of our 
people and the evolution of our differentiated product 
and service ranges, resulting in product development 
that meets the needs of our resource and rail industry 
customers.

Occupational health, safety and the environment

The health and safety of our people is our highest 
priority.  Bradken targets zero injuries and incidents 
through the continuous improvement of our policies 
and procedures; awareness; training; facilities and 
equipment.  We have further strengthened our health 
and safety programs with a number of initiatives 
underway including Company-wide training in plant 
safety and hazardous substances.  Bradken has also 
introduced smoke-free workplaces and held a drug and 
alcohol awareness program.

Bradken is focused on providing employment 
opportunities and career paths for people now and in 
the future. Today, we employ more than 2,600 people, 
representing more than a 50% increase on 2003.

The availability of skilled tradespeople and technical staff 
remains an ongoing challenge for us.  Accordingly, we 
have developed a sound proactive plan including junior 
and senior apprenticeship programs; training courses 
with local colleges to upskill the Company’s workforce; 
and assisting the unemployed to build their skill base and 
gain employment. We also have traineeship programs 
with universities.

We continue to place significant emphasis on protecting 
the environment and our local communities by investing 
in our manufacturing facilities to reduce waste, noise 
and emission levels.  During the year we recycled more 
than 50,000 tonnes of scrap steel and diverted 30,000 
tonnes of waste sand from landfill to other industries.

Well positioned for future growth

Bradken is currently experiencing a strong and growing 
market for its products driven by the expansion of the 
Chinese economy and others directly influencing the 
demand for Australian mining commodities.

Australia’s close proximity to Asia coupled with the low 
cost position of Australian mines on the world stage 
should see sustainable long term increases in mine 
production. Our prime strategies are to expand our 
capacity and capability to capitalise on this market 
growth.

At Bradken, we are working particularly hard to execute 
our capital program and manage our cash, while 
improving our human resources systems and culture.

We believe we have adequately expanded our facilities 
for the demands of 2006 and we are pressing on 
with work for 2007. Whilst we anticipate ongoing cost 
pressure, Bradken has the right systems in place to 
address cost increases through efficiency improvement 
and new pricing structures.

We believe that increased demand for consumable 
parts, as well as a full year contribution from the 
Henderson and Mackay facilities, will underpin the 
Company’s growth in 2006.

Brian Hodges
Managing Director and Chief Executive Officer
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OCCUPATIONAL HEALTH 
AND SAFETY

Bradken has total commitment to achieving a safe, 
productive and healthy work environment. We aim 
to conduct our business in a responsible manner 
that protects the health of our employees and the 
wider community.

Zero injuries and incidents are targeted through the 
continuous improvement of:

• policies and procedures;

• awareness;

• training; and

• facilities and equipment.

Bradken is undertaking a Company-wide training 
program in plant safety and hazardous substances. 
Further, the Company has introduced smoke-free 
workplaces and conducted a drug and alcohol 
awareness program.

Statistics

Lost Time Injury Frequency Rate = 10.7 at 30 June 
2005

Recognition at year end 2005

• 500 days lost time injury free at Dunedin 
Foundry, New Zealand

• Rail maintenance and fabrication work in 
Newcastle, New South Wales 250 days lost time 
injury free

• Mining and Rail fabrication work in Bassendean, 
Western Australia 250 days lost time injury free

• Launceston Foundry, Tasmania, 250 days lost 
time injury free
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Bradken takes a long-term proactive approach to 
improving its facilities and manufacturing processes 
to protect the environment in which we operate. The 
Company’s operations are subject to environmental 
laws and regulations governing, amongst other things, 
noise, air emissions, and the use, handling and disposal 
of hazardous substances and waste.

The Company operates an environmental management 
system, which complies with the International 
Environmental Standard ISO14001.

Highlights

• Recycled 50,000 tonnes of scrap steel

• 30,000 tonnes of waste sand diverted from landfill 
to other industries

• Improved energy efficiency

• Environmental capex of $1.57M

– Sand reclamation

– Noise reduction

– Odour reduction

– Waste management

ENVIRONMENT
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BRADKEN BUSINESSES
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MINING

Business Overview
Bradken provides the mining industry with unrivalled experience across an extensive range of wear resistant 
products, as well as maintenance and refurbishment services for earth moving equipment.

The business has extensive capabilities to construct, maintain and refurbish mining buckets fitted to draglines, 
rope shovels, hydraulic excavators and front end loaders. In fact, Bradken Mining has manufactured the largest 
dragline bucket ever produced in Australia, at 96 tonnes.

The cornerstone of Bradken Mining’s reputation is its diverse range of consumable products. These include 
ground engaging tools, blades, wear plate and block products, and crawler shoe systems. These products are 
designed using Bradken intellectual property and licensed technology.

The Mining business operates five manufacturing facilities in Australia including fabrication sites at Mackay 
in Queensland, Mount Thorley and Muswellbrook in New South Wales, and Bassendean in Western Australia. 
Bradken Mining also operates a foundry at Welshpool, Western Australia.

Bradken Mining maintains a regionally focused sales force across 13 mining regions in Australia and in key 
international locations.
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The Year in Review
Driven by record demand for mining consumables, 
Bradken Mining experienced strong growth during the 
year underpinned by the increased global demand for 
resources.

Bradken Mining reported a 32% increase in sales 
revenue for the year to June 2005 over the previous 
corresponding period. A strong earnings result was 
achieved despite temporary gross margin impact in the 
first half due to the increasing cost of molybdenum, an 
important alloy used in casting crawler shoe systems.

Revenue from ground engaging tools, and wear plate 
and block products reflected unprecedented levels of 
iron ore and coal production within Australia, while the 
export demand for crawler shoe systems contributed to 
record growth for that product.

The bucket product range performed very strongly, 
aided by the opening of a new facility in Mackay, 
specifically built for the construction, maintenance 
and refurbishment of mining buckets. The facility 
expands Bradken’s production capacity and extends the 
Company’s geographical reach to service the growing 
resources industry.

During the year, Bradken Mining continued to invest in 
the expansion of its 3D modelling capability by upgrading 
its existing technology base and acquiring new dynamic 
simulation software. The acquisition of the new software 
aided the development of new crawler shoe system 
products, a first in this area of product development.
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Bradken Mining reported a 32% increase 

in sales revenue for the year to June 2005 

over the previous corresponding period.
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Business Overview
Bradken Mineral Processing provides a range of capital equipment, consumable parts and refurbishment 
services to the mining and quarrying industries.

The business’s market leading position is underpinned by its complete range of consumable parts including 
grinding mill liners, crusher liners and pump parts that are designed in-house. Bradken Mineral Processing also 
produces vertical stirred mills and rotary breakers, complemented by a full refurbishment service.

The Mineral Processing business operates two manufacturing facilities in Australia, comprising foundries in 
Henderson, Western Australia and Kilburn, South Australia.

Bradken Mineral Processing maintains a regionally focused sales force located across 12 sites in Australia and 
in key international locations.

MINERAL PROCESSING

The Year in Review
The Mineral Processing business delivered a solid full 
year result due to steady demand for consumable 
products, predominantly from the copper and gold 
commodity sectors.

Bradken Mineral Processing reported a 37% increase 
in sales revenue for the year to June 2005 over the 
previous corresponding period. This result included 
three months contribution from the Henderson Foundry 
acquisition completed in March 2005. On an annualised 
basis, the acquisition will see the Mineral Processing 
business increase its sales revenue by 60% on 2005 
levels.

The Henderson Foundry business processes 12,000 
tonnes of iron and steel castings per annum and 
provides synergy benefits, including the marketing of 
additional Bradken products into the mining markets of 
Africa and South America where ongoing business in 
traditional product lines has already been established.

As a result of increased input costs, particularly for 
molybdenum, gross margins were impacted during the 
first half. This was offset in the second half through price 
correction programs.

The mill liner and crusher liner product ranges exceeded 
sales forecast, while the business continued to enjoy 
success in winning supply arrangements for consumable 
products with Australasia’s major mine sites.

During the year, the business continued to invest in 
evolving its differentiated product range through the 
design, manufacture and successful in-field trials of the 
provisionally patented Bullnose® discharge cone for large 
grinding mills.
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Bradken Mineral Processing reported 

a 37% increase in sales revenue on 

2004 predominantly as a result of the 

Henderson Foundry acquisition.
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RAIL

Business Overview
In the rail industry, Bradken is at the forefront of the Australian freight rollingstock market in the supply of 
freight wagons, bogies and drawgear.

Bradken Rail’s market position is underpinned by its capability to design and manufacture complete freight 
rollingstock solutions that incorporate capital equipment, best practice maintenance services and a 
comprehensive range of consumable parts.

The business offers a variety of freight wagons tailored for each application, while specialising in the design and 
manufacture of freight bogies with axle loading capacities up to 40 tonne.

Bradken Rail operates four manufacturing facilities in Australia including Bradken’s largest foundry at Runcorn 
in Queensland. The business has fabrication and maintenance facilities at Ipswich in Queensland in addition to 
Newcastle and Mittagong in New South Wales.

Bradken Rail operates a commodity based sales force located in the key iron ore, coal and general freight hubs 
in Australia. The business also operates a central consumable parts service centre complemented by a national 
distribution network.

The Year in Review
The Rail business experienced a strong year as a 
result of the growth in demand for Australian mining 
commodities and the structural long term increase in 
Australia’s general freight rail task.

Bradken Rail reported a 9% increase in sales 
revenue for the year to June 2005 over the previous 
corresponding period, which itself recorded a 100% 
increase over the year ended June 2003.

Increased demand for new rollingstock saw the Rail 
business win and execute contracts for iron ore wagons 
and bogies for the Pilbara region of Western Australia. 
A significant milestone in one of Bradken’s largest rail 
contracts was the production of the 2000th iron ore 
wagon.

Bradken Rail also produced container wagons for 
use in Queensland and specialised low level container 
wagons for national operation, for which it designed 
and manufactured the bogie and drawgear equipment. 
Demand for consumable parts, maintenance and 
refurbishment services remained strong.

One of the major highlights achieved by Bradken Rail 
was raising the benchmark for the highest freight wagon 
production rate in Australia to 44 wagons per week in 
one facility.

Bradken Rail continued to develop its differentiated 
product range through the introduction of prototype iron 
ore wagons to the Pilbara region of Western Australia. 
The Rail business also worked with the Amsted Rail 
Group to produce the new Motion Control® bogie for 
introductory trials in the Hunter Valley, New South 
Wales.
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A significant milestone in one of Bradken 

Rail’s largest contracts was the 

production of the 2000th iron ore wagon.
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Business Overview
Bradken’s Industrial business manufactures and supplies a range of cast, machined and fabricated products 
to a wide range of industries including smelters and refineries, steelworks and scrap processing, power 
generation, sugar production, mining and truck manufacture.

The range of products provided by the Industrial business varies from items manufactured to the customers’ 
specification, customised products and products based on Bradken’s proprietary designs.

Bradken Industrial castings are manufactured from a variety of materials including iron, complex alloy steel 
and stainless steel.

Bradken Industrial operates four foundry facilities across Australia and New Zealand, comprising Ipswich in 
Queensland, Wodonga in Victoria, Launceston in Tasmania and Dunedin in New Zealand.

Bradken Industrial maintains a regionally based sales network across seven sites in Australia and in key 
international locations.

INDUSTRIAL

The Year in Review
The Industrial business achieved a strong full year 
result underpinned by positive market fundamentals 
particularly in the mining and power generation sectors.

Bradken Industrial reported a 12% increase in sales 
revenue for the year to June 2005 over the previous 
corresponding period. Gross margin levels remained 
strong through the period with raw material cost 
increases being recovered from revised pricing 
structures.

The business experienced an increase in demand for 
mining consumables, road transport consumables 
for heavy vehicles and coal pulverising products for 
the Australian and export markets. The demand for 
consumable products for the recycling, steelmaking, 
smelting and refining sectors continued to provide a 
stable base load for the business.

During the year, the Industrial business continued to 
develop its in-house product development capability 
for coal pulverising products that led to a significant 
contract win in the United Kingdom.

Bradken Industrial continued to expand its import 
capability to complement local manufacture through 
opening an office in Shenzhen, China and appointing a 
local representative.
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Bradken Industrial’s in-house product 

development capability led to a significant 

contract win in the United Kingdom.
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DIRECTOR PROFILES

From left to right
Mr Gregory R Laurie, Mr Nicholas F H Greiner AC, Mr Phillip J Arnall, Mr Brian W Hodges, Mr Vincent J O’Rourke AM
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Mr Nicholas F H Greiner AC (Age 58)
Independent Non-Executive Chairman
Mr Nicholas Greiner was appointed to the Board 
on 13 April 2004. He is a member of the 
Remuneration Committee.
He was Premier and Treasurer of New South Wales 
from 1988-1992 and has extensive experience as a 
corporate director.
He is currently Chairman of Bilfinger Berger Australia, 
Deputy Chairman of Stockland Trust and a director 
of QBE Insurance Group Limited, McGuigan Simeon 
Wines Limited and various private groups. Nick is also 
Chairman of The Australian Subscription Television 
and Radio Association (ASTRA) and on the Committee 
for Economic Development of Australia’s (CEDA’s) 
Board of Governors and the Board of South Sydney 
Rugby League Club.
In 1994, he was awarded a Companion of the Order 
of Australia for public sector reform and management 
and services to the community.
Nick holds a Bachelor of Economics with Honours 
from Sydney University and a Master of Business 
Administration with High Distinction from Harvard 
Business School.

Mr Brian W Hodges (Age 52)
Managing Director and Chief Executive Officer
Mr Brian Hodges was appointed to the Board on 
13 April 2004.
He has been Chief Executive of the Bradken business 
since 1997. He has guided Bradken and its culture 
through periods of considerable change and corporate 
activity with four different owners during his tenure as 
Chief Executive. Over the course of his career, Brian 
has gained considerable management and leadership 
experience in raw material production and processing, 
supply and logistics and steel manufacturing.
Brian holds a Bachelor of Chemical Engineering with 
Honours from the University of Newcastle.

Mr Phillip J Arnall (Age 60)
Independent Non-Executive Director
Mr Phillip Arnall was appointed to the Board on 13 
April 2004. He is a member of the Audit Committee 
and Remuneration Committee.
He has extensive experience in the mining and steel 
industries in management positions. Phillip was the 
General Manager International at Smorgon Steel 
Group Limited and he held various senior positions 
at Australian National Industries Limited including, 
Chief General Manager of Structural Steel Product 
Group, Group Chief Executive of Tube Mills and Mining 
Services and Group Chief Executive of ANI Products 
Group. He is currently Chairman of Ludowici Limited 
and a director of Capral Aluminium Limited.
Phillip holds a Bachelor of Commerce (Accounting) 
from the University of Newcastle.

Mr Vincent J O’Rourke AM (Age 69)
Independent Non-Executive Director
Mr Vincent O’Rourke was reappointed to the 
Board on 8 August 2004. He is Chairperson of the 
Remuneration Committee and a member of the 
Audit Committee.
He has spent over 40 years in the rail transport 
industry, 10 of which were as Chief Executive of 
Queensland Rail. Vince is a director of Linfox Pty Ltd. 
He is Chairman of the Co-operative Research Centre 
for Rail Engineering and Technologies, the Great 
Australian Trunk Rail System and the Workplace 
Health and Safety Board of Queensland.
He was awarded a Member of the Order of Australia 
in 2000 and a Centenary Medal in 2003 for services 
to the rail transport industry and Queensland Rail.
Vince holds a Bachelor of Economics from the 
University of New England. He is an Honorary Doctor 
of the Queensland University of Technology and 
Griffith University.

Mr Gregory R Laurie (Age 63)
Independent Non-Executive Director
Mr Gregory Laurie was appointed to the Board 
on 24 February 2005. He is Chairman of the 
Audit Committee.
He has extensive experience in manufacturing and 
distribution industries. He was Finance Director of 
Crane Group Limited and prior to that, the Chief 
Financial Officer of Rheem Australia Limited. He is 
an independent non-executive director of Nick Scali 
Limited and Repco Corporation Limited.
Greg holds a Bachelor of Commerce from the 
University of New South Wales.
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SENIOR MANAGEMENT PROFILES

Mr Andrew Poole joined the Bradken business in 1998 as Chief Financial 
Officer and is responsible for finance, treasury, taxation, supply, investor 
relations, investments, audit and insurance. He was appointed Company 
Secretary of Bradken Resources in 2001.

Prior to joining the Bradken business, Andrew held various senior finance 
positions within the ANI Group and the BHP Group.

Andrew holds a Bachelor of Commerce from the University of Newcastle 
and a Master of Business Administration from Edinburgh Business School. 
He is a Fellow of the Australian Society of Certified Practising Accountants.

Mr Andrew J Poole (Age 42)
Chief Financial Officer and 
Company Secretary

Mr Enda Sheridan has been with the Bradken business for 15 years and 
was appointed General Manager Mining in 2004 following five years as 
General Manager Industrial.

His responsibilities include the management of the Mining business and 
Bradken’s manufacturing facilities at Mackay in Queensland, Welshpool and 
Bassendean in Western Australia, and Mount Thorley and Muswellbrook 
in New South Wales. Enda has held a number of production, technical and 
marketing positions with Bradken.

Enda holds a Bachelor of Materials Engineering from the University of 
Limerick, Ireland and a Master of Business Administration from the 
University of Newcastle.Mr Enda Sheridan (Age 40)

General Manager 
Mining

Mr Steven Burraston joined the Bradken business in 1995 as General 
Manager Rail. 

He manages the Rail group’s marketing, sales and production of capital 
products in addition to the provision of maintenance and refurbishment 
services and spare parts distribution. 

He is responsible for manufacturing facilities at Runcorn and Ipswich in 
Queensland, and Newcastle and Mittagong in New South Wales. Steve has 
extensive experience in the marketing and sales of rail products.

Steve is Chairman of the Australian Railway Industry Corporation and is a 
member of the Australasian Railway Association National Council and a 
member of The Institution of Engineers.

Mr Steven D Burraston (Age 46)
General Manager 
Rail
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Mr Wayne Herbertson was appointed General Manager Human Resources 
in December 2004. He is responsible for all aspects of human resources, 
occupational health and safety and quality.

Prior to joining the Bradken business, Wayne held senior positions with 
Siemens and BHP Steel.

Wayne holds a Master of Applied Science Metallurgy, Bachelor of Applied 
Science Metallurgy, Bachelor of Applied Science Multidiscipline, Associate 
Diploma of Theology and a Diploma in Occupational Health and Safety.

Mr Wayne G Herbertson (Age 43)
General Manager 
Human Resources

Mr Bradley Ward has been with the Bradken business for 21 years and was 
appointed General Manager Mineral Processing in September 2004.

He oversees the Mineral Processing business and is responsible for 
manufacturing facilities at Henderson in Western Australia and Kilburn 
in South Australia. Brad has gained considerable marketing, sales and 
manufacturing expertise over his long operational and management history 
with the Bradken business in Australia and North & South America.

Mr Bradley J Ward (Age 39)
General Manager 
Mineral Processing

Mr Andrew Allen has been with the Bradken business for 25 years and was 
appointed General Manager Industrial in 2004 following his appointment of 
General Manager Mineral Processing in 1998. 

Andrew oversees the Industrial business and is responsible for 
manufacturing facilities at Ipswich in Queensland, Wodonga in Victoria, 
Launceston in Tasmania and Dunedin in New Zealand. He has gained 
considerable manufacturing and technical expertise over his long operational 
and management history within the Bradken business.

Andrew holds an Associate Diploma in Metallurgy Engineering from the 
Sydney Technical College.

Mr Andrew J Allen (Age 43)
General Manager 
Industrial
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NOTE:

Note 3 to the Financial Statements outlines the period covered by this Annual Report. It should 
be noted that whilst this period commenced on 13 April 2004 the Company did not commence 
operations until 20 August 2004 (at the time of the IPO) and hence the financial results in this report 
cover the operational period 20 August 2004 to 30 June 2005.   

Bradken Ltd began trading operations on 20 August 2004, following it’s Initial Public Offering. 
Therefore, the statements of Financial Performance and Cash Flows plus the notes as attached which 
are included in this Annual Report reflect the ten month operational period 20 August 2004 to 30 
June 2005.

To provide meaningful analysis and to provide proper comparisons with the information disclosed in 
the Prospectus, pro-forma 12 month ended 30 June 2005 and year ended 30 June 2004 numbers 
are included in the commentary and review of operations on the results.  

The legal entity was incorporated on 13 April 2004 and received an ASIC order under sub-section 
340(1) of the Corporations Act 2001 exempting the Company from June 2004 reporting, hence, for 
the purposes of the Corporations Act, this report covers the statutory period 13 April 2004 to 30 
June 2005. As the period ended 30 June 2005 is the first reporting period for this entity zero values 
are shown in the Directors’ Report, Financial Statements and accompanying notes for the 2004 
period.

Directors’ report

For the period ended 30 June 2005

The directors present their report together with the financial report of Bradken Limited (‘the Company’) 
and of the consolidated entity, being the Company and its controlled entities, for the period ended 30 June 
2005 and the auditor’s report thereon.

DIRECTORS’ REPORT
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Directors’ meetings

The number of directors’ meetings (including meetings of committees of directors) and number of 
meetings attended by each of the directors of the Company during the financial period are:

Director Board Meetings Audit Committee 
Meetings

Remuneration and 
Governance Committee 

Meetings

A B A B A B

Mr NFH Greiner 7 7 1 1 2 2

Mr BW Hodges 7 7 - - - -

Mr PJ Arnall 7 7 4 4 2 2

Mr VJ O’Rourke 7 7 3 3 2 2

MR GR Laurie 3 4 1 1 - -

Mr PJ Morley - - - - - -

A – Number of meetings attended    

B – Number of meetings held during the time the director held office during the period

Corporate governance statement

This statement outlines the main corporate governance practices in place throughout the financial year, 
which comply with the ASX Corporate Governance Council recommendations, unless otherwise stated.

Board of Directors

Role of the board
The Board’s primary role is the protection and enhancement of long-term shareholder value.

To fulfil this role, the Board is responsible for the overall corporate governance of the consolidated entity 
(“the Bradken Group”) including formulating its strategic direction, approving and monitoring capital 
expenditure, setting remuneration, appointing, removing and creating succession policies for directors 
and senior executives, approving and monitoring the achievement of management’s goals and ensuring 
the integrity of internal control and management information systems. It is also responsible for approving 
budgets and forecasts and monitoring financial performance. Details of the Board’s charter is located on 
the Company’s website (www.bradken.com.au).

Composition of the board
The names of the directors of the Company in office at the date of this report are set out on page 21 of 
this report.

The composition of the Board is determined using the following principles:

• a minimum of three and a maximum of 10 directors, with a broad range of expertise both nationally 
and internationally

• a majority of independent non-executive directors, and one executive director, as Managing Director/
CEO

• a majority of directors having knowledge of the Company or related industries and/or financial 
expertise

DIRECTORS’ REPORT
(continued)
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• a non-executive independent director as 
Chairperson

• a maximum period of 12 years service as a 
director, subject to re-elections every year by 
rotation such that 1/3 of the Directors are 
subject to re-election each year

• a maximum retirement age of 72 years. The 
tenure of the Managing Director is limited to 
that of his Executive Office

An independent director is a director who is not a 
member of management (a non-executive director) 
and who:

• holds less than five % of the voting shares 
of the Company and is not an officer of, or 
otherwise associated, directly or indirectly, with 
a shareholder of more than five % of the voting 
shares of the Company

• has not within the last three years been 
employed in an executive capacity by the 
Company or another group member

• within the last three years has not been a 
principal or employee of a material professional 
adviser or a material consultant to the Company 
or another group member

• is not a material supplier to or customer of 
the Company or another group member, or an 
officer of or otherwise associated, directly or 
indirectly, with a material supplier or customer

• has no material contractual relationship with 
the Company or another group member other 
than as a director of the Company

• has not served as the Board of the Company for 
a period which could materially interfere with 
the Director’s ability to act in the best interests 
of the Company.

• is free from any interest and any business 
or other relationship which could, or could 
reasonably be perceived to, materially interfere 
with the director’s ability to act in the best 
interests of the Company.

The Board of the Company is currently made up of 
four independent Non-Executive Directors and the 
Managing Director.

The Board reviews the independence of each 
Director in light of interests disclosed to the Board 
from time to time.

During the period 19 June 2004 until the 
appointment of Mr GR Laurie as a Director on 
24 February 2005, the Company did not have a 
majority of independent non-executive directors 
as Mr N Greiner was not independent due to his 
association with a major shareholder. At the date 
of this report, Mr N Greiner is an independent non-
executive director.

Board processes
The Board has established a framework for the 
management of the Bradken Group including 
a system of internal control, a business risk 
management process and the establishment of 
appropriate ethical standards.

The full Board currently holds nine scheduled 
meetings each year, plus strategy meetings and 
any extraordinary meetings at such other times as 
may be necessary to address any specific matters 
that may arise.

The agenda for meetings is prepared in conjunction 
with the Chairperson, Managing Director and 
Company Secretary. Standing items include the 
Managing Director’s report, financial reports, 
strategic matters, governance and compliance. 
Submissions are circulated in advance. Executives 
are regularly involved in Board discussions and 
directors have other opportunities, including visits 
to business operations, for contact with a wider 
group of employees.

To assist in the execution of its responsibilities, the 
Board has established a Remuneration Committee 
and an Audit Committee. These Committees have 
written mandates and operating procedures, which 
are reviewed on a regular basis. 

Remuneration Committee

The role of the Remuneration Committee is to 
provide advice and assistance to the Board by:

• recommending to the Board appropriate 
remuneration policies and monitoring their 
implementation

• establishing systems designed to enhance 
corporate and individual performance
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• recommending to the Board a system of 
performance appraisal for Directors and the 
Board as a whole

• developing succession plans for the Board and 
overseeing the development of succession 
planning in relation to management

The Remuneration Committee may obtain 
information from, and consult with, management 
and external advisers as it considers appropriate.

The Remuneration Committee’s charter provides 
that the Committee must comprise entirely Non-
Executive Directors. The current members of the 
committee are:

Mr VJ O’Rourke (appointed 8th August 2004) 
- Chairperson, Independent Non-Executive

Mr NFH Greiner (appointed 8th August 2004) 
- Independent Non-Executive

Mr PJ Arnall (appointed 8th August 2004) 
- Independent Non-Executive

The Remuneration Committee reports regularly 
to the Board and has direct access to any 
management and other external advisers as it 
considers appropriate in order to ensure that its 
responsibilities are carried out effectively. The 
Managing Director and senior management may 
attend Remuneration Committee meetings as 
appropriate by invitation.

The Remuneration Committee meets at least twice 
a year. The Committee met twice during the period 
and Committee members’ attendance records are 
disclosed in the table of Directors’ meetings.

The Remuneration Committee’s charter is available 
on the Company’s website.

Remuneration report
The Remuneration report is set out on pages 38 to 
46 and forms part of the directors’ report for the 
financial period ended 30 June 2005.

Audit Committee

The Audit Committee has a written charter, 
approved by the board and reviewed periodically. 
All members must be non-executive directors with 
a majority being independent. The chairperson 
may not be the chairperson of the Board. The 

Committee provides advice and assistance to 
the Board in fulfilling the Board’s responsibilities 
relating to the Bradken Group’s financial results 
and statements, internal accounting and 
financial control systems, external audit and risk 
management.

The members of the Audit Committee during the 
period were:

Mr NFH Greiner (appointed 8th August 2004 and 
resigned 24 February 2005) - Independent Non-
Executive

Mr GR Laurie (appointed 24th February 2005) 
- Chairperson, Independent Non Executive

Mr VJ O’Rourke (appointed 8th August 2004) 
- Independent Non-Executive

Mr PJ Arnall (appointed 8th August 2004) - 
Independent Non-Executive

The responsibilities of the Audit Committee are to 
assist the Board in the following areas:

• monitor the integrity of the financial statements 
of the Company and review the Company’s 
external reporting procedures

• assess the suitability of the Company’s 
financial accounting policies, practices and 
procedures and the compliance with regulatory 
requirements

• oversee the adequacy of the Company’s internal 
financial control systems and risk management 
policies and systems

• review the scope and plans for the external 
audit and all reports issued by the external 
auditors

• monitor and assess the performance and the 
independence of the external auditor

• make recommendations to the Board in relation 
to the appointment, remuneration and removal 
of the external auditor

• review and advise on the form of the letter to be 
received by the Board from the Chief Financial 
Officer and the Managing Director as to the 
financial statements of the Company

DIRECTORS REPORT
(continued)
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The Audit Committee reports regularly to the 
Board and has direct access to any employee, the 
external auditors or any other independent experts 
and advisers as it considers appropriate in order to 
ensure that its responsibilities can be carried out 
effectively.

The external auditors, the Managing Director, 
Chief Financial Officer and Accounting Manager, 
are invited to attend Audit Committee meetings at 
the discretion of the Committee. The Committee 
met four times during the period and Committee 
members’ attendance records are disclosed in the 
table of Directors’ meetings.

The external auditor met with the Audit Committee 
and the Board of Directors twice during the year 
without management being present.

The Managing Director and the Chief Financial 
Officer declared in writing to the Board that the 
financial records of the Bradken Group for the 
financial period have been properly maintained, the 
Bradken Group’s financial reports for the period 
ended 30 June 2005 comply with accounting 
standards and present a true and fair view of the 
Bradken Group’s financial condition and operational 
results. This statement is required annually.

The Audit Committee’s charter is available on the 
Company’s website.

Independent professional advice and access to 
Company information
Each director has the right of access to all relevant 
Company information and to the Bradken Group’s 
executives and, subject to prior consultation 
with the Chairperson, may seek independent 
professional advice from a suitably qualified adviser 
at the Bradken Group’s expense. A copy of the 
advice received by the director is made available to 
all other members of the Board.

Risk management

The Board of Directors as a whole is responsible 
for the oversight of the processes for the 
identification and management of risk. Risks 
are assessed for both current operations and 
prospective actions. The Audit Committee provides 
advice and assistance to the Board in certain areas 
of risk.

Management is responsible for establishing 
procedures that provide assurance that major 
business risks are identified, assessed and suitably 
managed.

Not all aspects of risk management can be 
formalised and Bradken places considerable 
reliance on the skill, experience and judgement of 
it’s people to make risk based decisions within the 
policy framework, and to communicate openly on all 
risk related matters.

Risk profile
Quality and integrity of personnel
Formal appraisals are conducted at least annually 
for all employees. Training and development 
and appropriate remuneration and incentives 
with regular performance reviews are designed 
to create an environment of co-operation and 
constructive dialogue with employees and 
senior management and to ensure continual 
improvement. A formal succession plan is also in 
place to ensure competent and knowledgeable 
employees are available to fill senior positions when 
retirements or resignations occur.

Financial reporting
The Managing Director and the Chief Financial 
Officer have declared, in writing to the board that 
the Company’s financial reports are founded on 
a sound system of risk management and internal 
compliance and control which implements the 
policies adopted by the Board.

Monthly actual results are reported against 
budgets approved by the Directors and revised 
forecasts for the year are prepared regularly.

Convergence with Australian equivalents to 
International Financial Reporting Standards (AIFRS) 
is a key current financial reporting project, and the 
Board has established a formal project, monitored 
by a steering committee, to ensure a smooth 
transition to AIFRS reporting, beginning with the 
half-year ended 31 December 2005.

Details of the progress of the implementation 
project and the expected impact of transition to 
AIFRS on the financial report for the year ended 30 
June 2005 are included in Note 36.
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The Bradken Group is expected to be in a position 
to fully comply with the reporting requirements of 
AIFRS for the 30 June 2006 financial year.

Environmental regulation
The Bradken Group’s operations are subject to 
significant environmental regulation under both 
Commonwealth and State legislation governing, 
amongst other things, noise, air emissions, the use, 
handling, and disposal of hazardous substances 
and waste. Bradken has devoted and will continue 
to devote resources to environmental compliance 
and management in each of the jurisdictions in 
which it operates.

Bradken operates a group wide environmental 
management system which complies with the 
international standard ISO14001. It is Bradken 
policy and objective to be environmentally proactive 
and to adopt practices that minimise adverse 
environmental impacts and communicate with and 
provide to all stakeholders appropriate feedback 
on Bradken’s environmental performance. In 
accordance with Bradken’s environmental policy, 
procedures and goals have been established aimed 
at ensuring:

• all manufacturing and engineering sites 
have developed, implemented, and maintain 
environmental management systems meeting 
the requirements of ISO14001

• the environmental management systems are 
integrated with the existing business systems

• zero notifiable incidents and zero justified 
neighbourhood complaints

• continuing reduction of industrial waste disposal 
costs by continual improvement of working 
practices, such as cleaner production and 
improved recycling

Based upon the results of inquiries made, the 
Board is not aware of any significant breaches 
during the period covered by this report nor does 
it consider the Bradken Group is subject to any 
presently known material environmental liabilities.

Ethical standards and code of conduct

All directors, managers and employees are 
expected to act with the utmost integrity and 
objectivity, striving at all times to enhance the 

reputation and performance of the Bradken Group. 
Every employee has a nominated supervisor to 
whom they may refer any issues arising from their 
employment.

Conduct
The Bradken Group has advised each director, 
manager and employee that they must comply with 
the Company’s Whistleblower Policy. The Policy 
may be viewed on the Company’s website, and it 
covers the following:

• encouraging employees to report any behaviour 
that may be dishonest, fraudulent, corrupt, 
illegal, in breach of Commonwealth or State 
Legislation, unethical, improper, unsafe or any 
other behaviour that may cause financial or non-
financial loss to Bradken or would be otherwise 
detrimental to the interests of Bradken

• ensuring that Bradken complies with its 
obligations to protect the reporter of any such 
behaviour

Conflict of interest
Directors must keep the Board advised, on an 
ongoing basis, of any interest that could potentially 
conflict with those of the Company. 

Where the Board believes that a significant 
conflict exists for a director on a Board matter, the 
director concerned does not receive the relevant 
Board papers and is not present at the meeting 
whilst the item is considered. 

Details of director related entity transactions with 
the Bradken Group of companies are set out in 
Note 34.

Trading in company securities by directors and 
employees
The key elements of the Securities Trading Policy 
are :

• identification of those restricted from trading 
- Directors, senior executives reporting to 
the Managing Director and those executives 
reporting directly to those senior executives, 
may acquire shares in the Company, but are 
prohibited from dealing in Company shares 
or exercising options except for the trading 
windows:

DIRECTORS’ REPORT
(continued)
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– 4 weeks after either the release of the 
Company’s half-year and annual results to 
the Australian Stock Exchange (“ASX”) and 
the annual general meeting; 

–  or at such other times as the Board of 
Directors declares trading permissible in a 
written note to the designated persons and 
the ASX

• the Board may approve the dealing in the 
Company’s shares outside the trading window 
in exceptional circumstances provided the 
Director or executive is not in possession of 
inside information

• raising the awareness of legal prohibitions 
including transactions with colleagues and 
external advisers

• requiring details to be provided of intended 
trading in the Company’s shares

• requiring details to be provided of the 
subsequent confirmation of the trade

• identification of processes for unusual 
circumstances where discretions may be 
exercised in cases such as financial hardship.

The policy also details the insider trading provisions 
of the Corporations Act and is reproduced in full on 
the Company’s website.

Communication with shareholders
The Board provides shareholders with information 
using a comprehensive Continuous Disclosure 
Policy which includes identifying matters that 
may have a material effect on the price of the 
Company’s securities, notifying each matter to the 
ASX, posting them on the Company’s website, and 
issuing media releases. Full details of the policy are 
available on the Company’s website.

In summary, the Continuous Disclosure Policy 
operates as follows:

• the Chairman, the Managing Director and the 
Company Secretary comprise the Disclosure 
Committee.  The responsibilities of the 
Disclosure Committee include:

– ensuring the Company complies with it’s 
disclosure obligations 

– determining and authorising what 
information can or should be disclosed to 
the market

– liaising with the Board where necessary

• the Company Secretary is responsible for all 
communications with the ASX. Such continuous 
disclosure matters are advised to the ASX 
on the day they are discovered, and all senior 
executives must follow a ‘Continuous Disclosure 
Discovery’ process, which involves monitoring 
all areas of the Bradken Group’s internal and 
external environment

• the half-yearly report contains summarised 
financial information and a review of the 
operations of the Bradken Group during the 
period. The half-year reviewed financial report 
is lodged with the Australian Securities and 
Investments Commission and the ASX, and sent 
to any shareholder who requests it

• all announcements made to the market, and 
related information (including information 
provided to analysts or the media during 
briefings), are placed on the Company’s website 
after they are released to the ASX

• the full texts of notices of meetings and 
associated explanatory material are placed on 
the Company’s website

The external auditor attends the annual general 
meetings to answer questions concerning the 
conduct of the audit, the preparation and content of 
the auditor’s report, accounting policies adopted by 
the Company and the independence of the auditor 
in relation to the conduct of the audit.

All of the above information is made available on 
the Company’s website within one day of public 
release, and is emailed to all shareholders who 
lodge their email contact details with the Company. 
Information on lodging email addresses with the 
Company is available on the Company’s website.

The Board encourages full participation of 
shareholders at the annual general meeting, 
to ensure a high level of accountability and 
identification with the Bradken Group’s strategy 
and goals. Important issues are presented to the 
shareholders as single resolutions. 
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Principal activities

The Bradken Group’s principal activities in the course of the period were the:

• manufacture and maintenance of freight rollingstock products

• supply of cast, machined and fabricated components

• supply of equipment and consumables to the mineral processing and quarrying markets

• supply and service of wear components for mining and earth moving equipment

There were no significant changes in the nature of the activities of the Bradken Group during the period.

Operating and financial review

Commentary on results and review of operations

Financial Overview #

$m 12 months to June 30 Variance %

2005* 2004**

Sales 485.1 404.3 20%

EBITDA 57.9 50.1 16%

NPAT 15.3 N/A N/A

Earnings per Share pre amortisation 28.2 cents N/A N/A

Cashflow*** 51.0 37.1 37%

* Pro-forma 12 month period ended 30 June 2005      

** Per Prospectus dated 9 August 2004

*** Before investment, financing and income tax      

# Refer to page 34 for explanation of this overview

Bradken Limited full year consolidated results for the 12 month (proforma) period ended 30 June 
2005

• Sales revenue of $485.1 million, up 20% on FY04

• EBITDA of $57.9 million, up 16% on FY04

• Prospectus NPAT forecast met

• Final dividend 9.2 cents per share fully franked, taking the total dividend for the ten months of 
operations to14.3 cents per share as per prospectus forecast

The Bradken Group reported strong results for the full year ended 30 June 2005 in accordance with its 
prospectus forecast; delivering a significant increase in earnings on the previous year.

Sales revenue for the year was up 20% on 2004 levels to $485.1 million (June 2004: $404.3 million) 
against a prospectus forecast of $459.5 million.

Bradken reported an EBITDA result of $57.9 million for the year to June 2005 against a prospectus 
forecast of $56.5 million, representing a 16% increase on the previous corresponding period (June 
2004: $50.1 million).  NPAT for the full year is reported at $15.3 million against a prospectus forecast of 
$15.2 million.

DIRECTORS’ REPORT
(continued)
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The Directors have declared a final fully franked 
dividend of 9.2 cents per share in accordance with 
the prospectus forecast, bringing the total dividend 
to 14.3 cents per share, fully franked.

This is a pleasing result for Bradken amidst 
sustained growth in the resources and freight rail 
industries.  Bradken has delivered a significant 
increase in earnings on 2004 levels whilst meeting 
its prospectus forecast.

Increased volume across Bradken’s four strategic 
businesses, Mining, Mineral Processing, Rail and 
Industrial drove a significant increase in sales 
revenue in comparison to the prospectus forecast 
and 2004 levels.  Sales from the consumable 
parts business exceeded forecast, driven by the 
resources sector, in particular coal and iron 
ore.  The rail business finished the year strongly 
on the back of the iron ore and general freight 
sectors, having produced the highest freight wagon 
production rate in Australia at 44 wagons per week 
in one facility.

The level of increased business activity required a 
significant production capacity ramp up at selected 
facilities across Bradken’s broad manufacturing 
base, positioning the Company well to service 
increased market demand in the coming year.

Bradken achieved an overall EBITDA margin of 
11.9% which includes the March acquisition of 
the Henderson foundry.  Excluding Henderson the 
EBITDA margin was 12.1%, being 11.4% in the 
first half and 12.8% in the second.  Margins in the 
first half were adversely impacted by a significant 
increase in the world price of Molybdenum, an 
important raw material.  Bradken achieved strong 
margin recovery in the second half through revised 
pricing strategies and alloy specifications which are 
now in place, leaving the Company well positioned 
to protect its gross margins.

Since listing on the Australian Stock Exchange in 
August last year, Bradken has continued to execute 
its strategy to capture the growth in the Australian 
resources and freight rail industries.

Bradken has enhanced its production capacity 
across its existing operational base as well as 
acquiring a complementary foundry business in 
Henderson, Western Australia.  The Company has 
also opened a new facility in Mackay, Queensland.  

These facilities will add 10% to the revenue base 
of Bradken’s consumable products and services 
businesses.

Operational cash flow during the year was strong 
and Bradken’s balance sheet gearing (net debt : 
net debt plus equity) stands at 36%, leaving the 
Company in a sound financial position to pursue the 
ongoing expansion of capacity as the opportunity 
arises.



34 ⏐ BRADKEN LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2005 BRADKEN LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2005⏐ 35

0

10

20

30

40

50

60

70

2005200420032002

Sales Revenue CAGR 21%

32.9
36.8

50.1

57.9

0

100

200

300

400

500

2005200420032002

EBITDA CAGR 16.6%

276.5
294.1

404.3

485.1

# Explanation of Financial Overview

Presented below is an explanation of the pro-forma numbers used in the above analysis and a 
reconciliation back to the statutory financials provided in this Annual Report.

Ten months Two months Pro-Forma Prospectus

$m Statutory Pre IPO Period Year June 2005 Forecast

20/8/04 to 
30/6/05

1/7/04 to 
19/8/04

(as above)

Sales 416.7 68.4 485.1 459.5

EBITDA 51.1 6.7 57.9 56.5

Depreciation 7.3 1.1 8.5 8.5

Interest 8.7 1.3 10.0 8.6

Amortisation - licences 8.7 1.4 10.1 10.0

Amortisation - goodwill 5.2 0.9 6.1 5.5

Amortisation - borrow costs 0.8 0.0 0.8 0.6

Net profit before tax 20.4 2.1 22.4 23.3

Tax expense 6.2 0.9 7.1 8.1

Net profit after tax 14.1 1.2 15.3 15.2

Table Contents:

1. The Ten Months Statutory numbers are as per the Financial Statements set out later in this report.

2. The two month “Pre IPO Period” reflects 51 days of activity and includes proforma adjustments to 
reflect the post IPO structure of the business. These numbers have been subject to external review.

DIRECTORS’ REPORT
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Significant changes in the state of affairs

The significant changes in the state of affairs of the Bradken Group during the period were the:

• acquisition of the Bradken business on 20 August 2004 following an Initial Public Offering

• acquisition of the Henderson foundry business in Western Australia on 1 April 2005 from Roche 
Castings Pty Ltd.

Dividends

Dividends paid or declared by the Company to members since the date of incorporation were:   

Type
Cents per 

share
Total amount 

$’000
Franked/ 
unfranked Date of Payment

Declared and paid during 
the year

- Interim 2005 ordinary 5.1  5,220 franked 23 March 2005

Declared after end of year

- Final 2005 ordinary 9.2  9,455 franked 12 October 2005

 14,675 

Note

Dealt with in the financial 
report as:

- Dividends 25  5,220 

- Noted as a subsequent 
event 25  9,455 

 14,675 

All the franked dividends paid or declared by the Company during the period were fully franked at the 30% 
tax rate.

Events subsequent to reporting date

On 27 June 2005 Bradken announced its New Zealand Employee Share Gift Offer under which each 
eligible New Zealand employee was entitled to approximately A$500 of shares at no cost to the employee, 
based on an issue price of A$2.40 per share as foreshadowed in the prospectus lodged with the 
Australian Securities and Investments Commission on 9 August 2004. It was announced on 19 July 
2005 that thirty one New Zealand employees will each be issued 208 ordinary shares resulting in an 
aggregate of 6,448 new ordinary shares to be issued.  These shares will rank equally with existing fully 
paid ordinary shares.

For reporting periods beginning on or after 1 July 2005, the Bradken Group must comply with Australian 
equivalents to International Financial Reporting Standards (AIFRS) as issued by the Australian Accounting 
Standards Board.

The implementation plan and potential impact of adopting AIFRS are detailed in Note 36 to the financial 
statements.

Other than the matters discussed above, there has not arisen in the interval between the end of the 
financial period and the date of this report any item, transaction or event of a material and unusual nature 
likely, in the opinion of the directors of the Company, to affect significantly the operations of the Bradken 
Group, the results of those operations, or the state of affairs of the Bradken Group, in future financial 
periods.
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Likely developments

Disclosure of information regarding likely developments in the operations of the Bradken Group in future 
periods and the expected results of those operations is likely to result in unreasonable prejudice to the 
Bradken Group.  Accordingly, this information has not been disclosed in this report.

Directors’ interests

The relevant interest of each director in the shares, debentures, interests in registered schemes and 
rights or options over such instruments issued by the companies within the Bradken Group and other 
related bodies corporate, as notified by the directors to the Australian Stock Exchange in accordance with 
S205G(1) of the Corporations Act 2001, at the date of this report is as follows:

Bradken Limited

Ordinary shares Rights over ordinary shares

Mr NFH Greiner 227,492 NIL

Mr PJ Arnall 690,135 NIL

Mr VJ O’Rourke 12,500 NIL

MR GR Laurie NIL NIL

Mr BW Hodges 2,623,723 91,667

Performance rights 

Performance Rights granted to directors’ and officers of the Company.

During or since the end of the financial period, the Company, under the terms of the Performance Rights 
Plan, granted Rights to unissued ordinary shares in Bradken Limited, for no consideration, to the following 
directors and to the following of the five most highly remunerated officers of the Company as part of their 
remuneration:

Number of Rights granted Exercise price Expiry date

Directors

Mr NFH Greiner NIL 0.00

Mr PJ Arnall NIL 0.00

Mr VJ O’Rourke NIL 0.00

MR GR Laurie NIL 0.00

Mr BW Hodges 91,667 0.00 8th August 2014

Officers

Mr AJ Poole 26,583 0.00 30th June 2015

Mr A Allen 24,499 0.00 30th June 2015

Mr E Sheridan 24,490 0.00 30th June 2015

Mr B Ward 19,288 0.00 30th June 2015

Mr S Burraston 25,087 0.00 30th June 2015

DIRECTORS’ REPORT
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All Rights were granted during the financial period. No Rights have been granted since the end of the 
financial period.

Unissued shares under Performance Rights

At the date of this report unissued ordinary shares of the Company under Rights are:

Expiry date Exercise price Number of shares

8th August 2014 Nil 91,667

30th June 2015 Nil 174,749

All Rights expire on the earlier of their expiry date, their exercise, their failure to meet exercise conditions 
or termination of the employee’s employment. In addition, the ability to exercise the Rights is conditional on 
the Bradken Group achieving certain performance hurdles related to relative total shareholder return to 
the ASX Small Cap Industrial index.

Further details are included in the Remuneration Report.

Indemnification and insurance of officers and auditors

During the period, the Company paid a premium in respect of a contract insuring the directors of the 
Bradken Group (as named above), the Company Secretary, Mr A.J. Poole, and all executive officers of the 
Bradken Group and of any related body corporate against a liability incurred by such a director, secretary 
or executive officer to the extent permitted by the Corporations Act 2001.  The contract of insurance 
prohibits disclosure of the nature of the liability and the amount of the premium.

The Company has not otherwise, during or since the end of the period, indemnified or agreed to indemnify 
an officer or auditor of the Bradken Group or of any related body corporate against a liability incurred by 
such an officer or auditor.

Non-audit services

The Board has considered the non-audit services provided during the period by the auditor and in 
accordance with written advice provided by resolution of the Audit Committee, is satisfied that the 
provision of those non-audit services during the year by the auditor is compatible with, and did not 
compromise, the auditor independence requirements of the Corporations Act 2001 for the following 
reasons:

• all non-audit services were subject to the corporate governance procedures adopted by the Company 
and have been reviewed by the Audit Committee to ensure they do not impact the integrity and 
objectivity of the auditor; and

• the non-audit services provided do not undermine the general principles relating to auditor 
independence as set out in Professional Statement F1 Professional independence, as they did not 
involve reviewing or auditing the auditor’s own work, acting in a management or decision making 
capacity for the Company, acting as an advocate for the Company or jointly sharing risks and rewards.

A copy of the auditors’ independence declaration as required under Section 307C of the Corporations Act 
is included on page 47 of this report.

During the period the Company’s previous auditor, KPMG Newcastle, merged with 
PricewaterhouseCoopers. As a result KPMG Newcastle resigned as auditor of the Company and 
PricewaterhouseCoopers were appointed auditors following approval from the Australian Securities and 
Investments Commission.
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Details of the amounts paid to the auditors of the Company, both PricewaterhouseCoopers and KPMG, 
and their related practices for audit and non-audit services provided during the period are set out below. 
In addition, amounts paid to other auditors for the statutory audit are disclosed:

Consolidated

2005 2004

$ $

Statutory audit:

Auditors of the Company

– audit and review of financial reports (PricewaterhouseCoopers)  95,000  -   

Other auditors:

– audit and review of financial reports (KPMG)  143,000 

– audit and review of financial reports (Deloitte)  23,661  -   

 261,661  -   

Services other than statutory audit:

Other assurance services

– Controls assurance services (KPMG)  13,500  -   

– Due diligence services (KPMG)  221,485  -   

– Due diligence services (Deloitte)  129,800  -   

Other services

– taxation compliance services (KPMG)  37,595  -   

– taxation compliance services (Overseas firms)  8,872  -   

 411,252  -   

Remuneration report

Remuneration policies

Remuneration levels for directors and senior executives of the Company are competitively set to 
attract, motivate and retain appropriately qualified and experienced directors and senior executives. 
The Remuneration Committee, which provides advice and assistance to the Board, obtains independent 
advice where necessary on the appropriateness of remuneration packages given trends in comparative 
companies and the objectives of the Company’s remuneration strategy.

The remuneration structures explained below are designed to attract suitably qualified candidates, 
motivate and retain them and reward the achievement of strategic objectives.

Remuneration packages include a mix of fixed and variable remuneration and short and long-term 
performance-based incentives.

Fixed remuneration
Fixed remuneration consists of base remuneration (which is calculated on a total cost basis and includes 
any FBT charges related to employee benefits including motor vehicles), as well as employer contributions 
to superannuation funds.

The remuneration of senior executives is reviewed annually by the Remuneration Committee through a 
process that considers individual, business unit and overall performance of the Bradken Group. In addition 
external analysis and advice is sought by the Committee, where considered appropriate, to ensure the 
directors’ and senior executives’ remuneration is competitive in the market place. A senior executive’s 
remuneration is also reviewed on promotion.

DIRECTORS’ REPORT
(continued)
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Performance-linked remuneration
Performance linked remuneration includes 
both short-term and long-term incentives and is 
designed to reward executive directors and senior 
executives for meeting or exceeding their financial 
and personal objectives. The short-term incentive 
(STI) is an “at risk” bonus provided in the form of 
cash, while the long-term incentive (LTI) is provided 
as rights over ordinary shares of Bradken Limited 
under the rules of the Performance Rights Plan.

Short-term incentive bonus

Each year the Remuneration Committee sets 
the KPI’s (key performance indicators) for the 
executive directors and Managing Director. The 
senior executives KPI’s are set and managed by 
the Managing Director and approved by the Board. 
The KPI’s generally include measures relating to 
the Bradken Group, the relevant business, and the 
individual, and include financial, people, customer 
and strategy and risk measures. The measures 
are chosen as they directly align the individual’s 
reward to the KPI’s of the Bradken Group and to its 
strategy and performance.

The financial performance objectives are ordinarily 
“Net profit after tax” and “EBITDA” compared to 
budget and to previous results. The non-financial 
objectives vary with position and responsibility and 
include measures such as achieving strategic 
outcomes, safety and environmental performance, 
customer satisfaction and staff development. 

At the end of the financial year an assessment is 
made of the actual performance of the Bradken 
Group, the relevant business unit and the individual 
targets set at the beginning of the financial year. 
A percentage of the predetermined maximum 
amount is awarded depending on results, between 
20% for minimum acceptable performance 
and 100% for stretch performance. No bonus 
is awarded where performance falls below the 
minimum.

The Remuneration Committee recommends 
the bonus incentive to be paid to the Managing 
Director for approval by the Board. For other senior 
executives the Managing Director recommends the 
bonus incentive to be paid, and seeks approval from 
the Remuneration Committee. 

Long-term incentive

The Performance Rights Plan (“PRP”) is the 
Company’s long-term incentive scheme for selected 
key senior executives. The Company’s Shareholders 
have approved the terms, the implementation and 
the operation of the PRP. The Managing Director 
recommends the list of executives who are entitled 
to participate in this scheme and seeks approval 
of the list from the Board. Under the PRP, eligible 
executives may be granted Performance Rights 
(each being a right to acquire a Share, subject to 
the satisfaction of exercise conditions) on terms 
and conditions determined by the Board. If the 
exercise conditions are satisfied, the Performance 
Rights may be exercised and the Shares issued and 
delivered to the executive. The Board may impose 
restrictions on the disposal of the Shares and 
implement procedures to enforce the restrictions.

The rules of the PRP provide that the Board may 
determine a price that is payable to exercise a 
Performance Right, or that no amount is payable 
by the executive upon exercise of the Right. The 
Board has determined that no amount is payable 
by the executive on exercise under the initial 
grant referred to below. Under the initial grant, 
Performance Rights are granted at no cost to the 
executive.

The Company’s Shareholders have approved 
an initial grant of Performance Rights under 
the PRP to Mr Brian Hodges, the Company’s 
Managing Director, which become exercisable on 
the conditions described below. The initial grant 
approved is for 91,667 Performance Rights. In 
addition to the initial grant, the Board has made 
grants under the PRP to nine eligible executives 
during the 2004/05 financial year, on the terms 
of the PRP rules with terms and conditions the 
same as those of the initial grant to the Managing 
Director. A total of 174,749 Performance Rights 
were granted to the nine executives. 

If any additional persons become entitled to 
participate in the PRP and their participation 
requires approval under Chapter 10 of the Listing 
Rules, they will not participate in the PRP until 
shareholder approval is received pursuant to 
Listing Rule 10.14. 
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Mr Brian Hodges, being the only Executive Director of the Company, is the only Director entitled to 
participate in the PRP. If any other Director is to participate in the PRP, the Company would seek 
shareholder approval required by the Listing Rules. 

The performance conditions are based on the relative total shareholder return (“TSR”) of the Company 
measured against other companies in the ASX Small Cap Industrials index for the period since grant of 
the Performance Rights. TSR measures the total return on investment of a Share taking into account 
capital appreciation, capital return and dividend income.

The TSR performance conditions in relation to the initial grant are:

Target
Percentage of Rights available 

in given year to vest

The Company’s TSR does not meet performance of 
the median company in ASX Small Ord 0

The Company’s TSR equals or exceeds performance 
of the median company in ASX Small Ord 50

The Company’s TSR ranked in third quartile of 
companies in ASX Small Ord

Pro rata between 50% and 100%

(2% increase for each higher ranking)

The Company’s TSR ranked in fourth quartile of 
companies in ASX Small Ord 100

In relation to the initial grant, the performance conditions will be tested following the end of the financial 
year ending 30 June 2005 and the following two financial years. The maximum number of Performance 
Rights that become exercisable from the initial grant under the PRP over that three year period is as 
follows:

Testing date is the results 
announcement date for financial 
year ending

Maximum proportion of total 
Rights that may become 

exercisable

Performance condition test 
period

30 June 2005 One third From listing until 30 June 2005

30 June 2006 One third Year ending 30 June 2006

30 June 2007 One third Year ending 30 June 2007

In assessing whether the performance hurdles have been met, the Remuneration Committee receives 
independent data from an independent investment bank which provides both Bradken’s growth from 
previous financial years and that of the ASX Small Ord companies. The Company’s performance against 
the hurdle is then determined with each company in the ASX Small Ord companies and Bradken being 
ranked in order of growth in results from previous financial years. The Company’s percentile ranking 
is determined by aggregating the weighting within the ASX Small Ord companies (based on market 
capitalisation) of each company ranked below Bradken. The method of assessment was chosen as it 
provides the Committee with an objective means of measuring the Company’s performance against its 
peer group.

Dividends, changes in share price, and return of capital are included in the TSR calculation which is one of 
the performance criteria assessed for the LTI.

Non-Executive Director Share Acquisition Plan
All current and future Non-Executive Directors are required to have a percentage of their annual fixed 
Directors’ fees provided in Shares under the Non-Executive Director Share Acquisition Plan (“NED Plan”). 
Shares are allocated to the Non-Executive Directors under the NED Plan and must be held for a specified 
period.

DIRECTORS’ REPORT
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Non-Executive Directors are required to have at 
least 25% (or such other minimum percentage 
determined by the Board from time to time) of their 
annual Directors’ fees (including Board committee 
fees) provided as shares under the NED Plan. The 
Company may provide Non-Executive Directors with 
more than 25% of their fees, up to a maximum of 
90%, in any year in Shares under the NED Plan 
upon election by the Non-Executive Director.

Non-Executive Directors are not be able to sell or 
otherwise dispose of the Shares until the earliest 
of 10 years after acquisition or the Non-Executive 
Director ceasing to be a director of the Company 
(except in very limited circumstances). During this 
period the Shares are subject to a holding lock.

Shares are issued as new Shares and the number 
of Shares allocated is determined on the basis of 
the weighted average price of Shares on the ASX 
on the five trading days up to and including the 
allocation date to satisfy the allocation.

The appropriate number of Shares are issued on a 
semi-annual basis. In general, the allocation date is 
the day following the end of the relevant fee period. 
If for legal or other reasons Shares are not issued, 
each Non-Executive Director is provided with an 
equivalent cash amount.

Service agreements
Mr Brian Hodges, Managing Director, has a 
contract of employment with Bradken Limited 
dated 26th April 2004. The contract specifies 
the duties and obligations to be fulfilled by the 
Managing Director. There is no prescribed duration 
in the contract. 

The service contract can be terminated either 
by the Company or Mr Brian Hodges providing 6 
months notice. The Company may make a payment 
in lieu of notice of 6 months, equal to 50% of total 
annual remuneration and pro-rata bonus.

The Managing Director has no entitlement to a 
termination payment in the event of removal for 
misconduct.

Mr Andrew Poole, the CFO and Company Secretary, 
has a contract of employment dated 14th April 
1998. There is no prescribed duration of the 
contract. The contract can be terminated on three 
months notice either by the Company or Mr Poole. 

There is no provision in the contract for a payout on 
termination.

Mr Steven Burraston, General Manager Rail, has 
a contract of employment dated 6th June 1995. 
There is no prescribed duration of the contract. 
The contract can be terminated on three months 
notice either by the Company or Mr Burraston. 
There is no provision in the contract for a payout on 
termination.

Mr Enda Sheridan, General Manager Mining, has a 
contract of employment dated 7th January 2000. 
There is no prescribed duration of the contract. 
The contract can be terminated on three months 
notice either by the Company or Mr Sheridan, 
or immediately in the case of gross misconduct. 
There is no provision in the contract for a payout on 
termination.

Mr Andrew Allen, General Manager Industrial, 
has a contract of employment dated 28th August 
1998. There is no prescribed duration of the 
contract. There is no provision in the contract for a 
period of notice or for a payout on termination.

Mr Bradley Ward, General Manager Mineral 
Processing, has a contract of employment dated 
22nd September 2004. There is no prescribed 
duration of the contract. The contract can be 
terminated on three months notice either by the 
Company or Mr Ward, or immediately in the case 
of gross misconduct. There is no provision in the 
contract for a payout on termination.

Non-executive directors
Total aggregate remuneration for all non-executive 
directors, last voted upon by shareholders in April 
2004, is not to exceed $600,000 per annum and 
actual amounts payable to individual directors are 
determined after considering advice from external 
advisors and with reference to fees paid to other 
non-executive directors of comparable companies. 
Directors’ base fees are presently $85000 per 
annum.

The Chairperson receives up to twice the base fee, 
currently $160,000 per annum. Non-executive 
directors do not receive performance related 
remuneration. Directors’ fees cover all main board 
activities and membership of any Board Committee. 
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Primary Post-employment
Equity 

compensation
Other 

compensation

Note:
Values in this table reflect earnings for the period
20 August 2004 to 30 June 2005.

Salary & fees
$

STI cash bonus
$ (A)

Non-monetary 
benefits

$

Super-
annuation 
benefits

$

Prescribed 
benefits

$

Value of 
Rights/shares
(to be issued)

(B)
$

Termination 
benefits

$
Total

$

Proportion of 
remuneration 
performance 

related %

Value of 
Rights/ shares 
as proportion of 
remuneration %

Directors

Non-executive

Mr NFH Greiner 2005  119,004  -    -    -    -    20,000  -    139,004 NA 14.4%

Mr PJ Arnall 2005  62,691  -    -    -    -    10,625  -    73,316 NA 14.5%

Mr VJ O’Rourke 2005  63,288  -    -    -    -    10,625  -    73,913 NA 14.4%

MR GR Laurie 2005  22,199  -    -    -    -    7,399  -    29,598 NA 25.0%

Sub-Total  315,831 

Executive

Mr BW Hodges 2005  319,730  60,923  23,405  62,927  -    143,917  -    610,902 33.5% 23.6%

Total, all specified directors 2005  586,912  60,923  23,405  62,927  -    192,566  -    926,733 

Executives

Consolidated

Mr A Poole 2005  188,636  27,000  -    36,455  -    37,482  -    289,573 22.3% 12.9%

Mr S Burraston 2005  117,831  21,808  45,378  22,818  -    35,373  -    243,208 23.5% 14.5%

Mr E Sheridan 2005  122,616  43,135  20,383  37,217  -    34,531  -    257,882 30.1% 13.4%

Mr A Allen 2005  129,382  42,739  30,261  23,349  -    34,544  -    260,275 29.7% 13.3%

Mr B Ward (1 November 2004 to 
30 June 2005) 2005  117,747  36,346  12,561  19,962  -    27,196  -    213,812 29.7% 12.7%

Former

Mr A Horne (20 August 2004 to 
22 October 2004) 2005  34,702  -    27,794  8,094  -    -    117,909  188,499 NA 0.0%

Total, all named executives 2005  710,914  171,028  136,377  147,895  -    169,126  117,909  1,453,249 

Notes in relation to table of directors’ and executive officers remuneration

(A) The short-term cash incentive bonus is for performance during the 30 June 2005 financial period using the 
criteria set out on page 39. The amount was finally determined on 8th September 2005 after performance 
reviews were completed.

(B) The fair value of the Rights is calculated at the date of grant using a Black-Scholes model and allocated to each 
reporting period evenly over the period from grant date to vesting date. The value disclosed is the portion of 
the fair value of the Rights allocated to this reporting period. In valuing the Rights market conditions have been 
taken into account in both the current and prior periods. Comparative information was not restated as market 
conditions were already included in the valuation.

DIRECTORS’ REPORT
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Directors’ and executive officers’ remuneration

Details of the nature and amount of each major element of remuneration of each director of the Company 
and each of the five named Company executives and relevant group executives who receive the highest 
remuneration are:
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Primary Post-employment
Equity 

compensation
Other 

compensation

Note:
Values in this table reflect earnings for the period
20 August 2004 to 30 June 2005.

Salary & fees
$

STI cash bonus
$ (A)

Non-monetary 
benefits

$

Super-
annuation 
benefits

$

Prescribed 
benefits

$

Value of 
Rights/shares
(to be issued)

(B)
$

Termination 
benefits

$
Total

$

Proportion of 
remuneration 
performance 

related %

Value of 
Rights/ shares 
as proportion of 
remuneration %

Directors

Non-executive

Mr NFH Greiner 2005  119,004  -    -    -    -    20,000  -    139,004 NA 14.4%

Mr PJ Arnall 2005  62,691  -    -    -    -    10,625  -    73,316 NA 14.5%

Mr VJ O’Rourke 2005  63,288  -    -    -    -    10,625  -    73,913 NA 14.4%

MR GR Laurie 2005  22,199  -    -    -    -    7,399  -    29,598 NA 25.0%

Sub-Total  315,831 

Executive

Mr BW Hodges 2005  319,730  60,923  23,405  62,927  -    143,917  -    610,902 33.5% 23.6%

Total, all specified directors 2005  586,912  60,923  23,405  62,927  -    192,566  -    926,733 

Executives

Consolidated

Mr A Poole 2005  188,636  27,000  -    36,455  -    37,482  -    289,573 22.3% 12.9%

Mr S Burraston 2005  117,831  21,808  45,378  22,818  -    35,373  -    243,208 23.5% 14.5%

Mr E Sheridan 2005  122,616  43,135  20,383  37,217  -    34,531  -    257,882 30.1% 13.4%

Mr A Allen 2005  129,382  42,739  30,261  23,349  -    34,544  -    260,275 29.7% 13.3%

Mr B Ward (1 November 2004 to 
30 June 2005) 2005  117,747  36,346  12,561  19,962  -    27,196  -    213,812 29.7% 12.7%

Former

Mr A Horne (20 August 2004 to 
22 October 2004) 2005  34,702  -    27,794  8,094  -    -    117,909  188,499 NA 0.0%

Total, all named executives 2005  710,914  171,028  136,377  147,895  -    169,126  117,909  1,453,249 

Notes in relation to table of directors’ and executive officers remuneration

(A) The short-term cash incentive bonus is for performance during the 30 June 2005 financial period using the 
criteria set out on page 39. The amount was finally determined on 8th September 2005 after performance 
reviews were completed.

(B) The fair value of the Rights is calculated at the date of grant using a Black-Scholes model and allocated to each 
reporting period evenly over the period from grant date to vesting date. The value disclosed is the portion of 
the fair value of the Rights allocated to this reporting period. In valuing the Rights market conditions have been 
taken into account in both the current and prior periods. Comparative information was not restated as market 
conditions were already included in the valuation.
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The following factors and assumptions were used in determining the fair value of Rights on grant date:

Grant Date Expiry Date Fair value 
per right

Exercise 
price

Price of 
shares on 
grant date

Estimated 
volatility

Risk free 
interest 

rate

Dividend 
yield

8/8/04 30/6/07  1.57  -    2.66 90% 5.44% 0.00%

30/6/05 30/6/07  1.41  -    2.80 90% 5.17% 0.00%

Service agreements

For the individuals named in the directors’ and executives’ remuneration tables, details of their service 
agreements are included in the discussion provided on page 41.

Analysis of bonuses included in remuneration

Details of the vesting profile of the short-term incentive cash bonuses awarded as remuneration to the 
executive Director of the Company (the Managing Director) and each of the five named Company senior 
executives are detailed below.

Short term incentive bonuses

Included in 
remuneration 

$ (A)

% vested in year % forfeited in 
year (B)

Directors

Mr BW Hodges  60,923 50% 50%

Executives

Consolidated

Mr A Poole  27,000 50% 50%

Mr S Burraston  21,808 50% 50%

Mr E Sheridan  43,135 100% 0%

Mr A Allen  42,739 100% 0%

Mr B Ward  36,346 100% 0%

(A) Amounts included in remuneration for the period represents the amount that vested in the financial 
period based on achievement of personal goals and satisfaction of specified performance criteria. No 
amounts vest in future financial years in respect of the short term incentive bonus schemes for the 
2005 financial period.

(B) The amounts forfeited are due to the performance or service criteria not being met in relation to the 
current financial period.

Analysis of share-based payments granted as remuneration

Details of the vesting profile of the Rights granted as remuneration to the executive Director of the 
Company (the Managing Director) and each of the five named Company executives are detailed below.

DIRECTORS’ REPORT
(continued)
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Rights granted

Financial years 
in which grant 

vests

Value yet to vest

Number Date
% vested 

in year

Forfeited 
in year 

(A) Min (B) Max (C)

Directors

Mr BW Hodges  91,667 8th August 2004 26%  -   2005/6/7  -   NA

Executives

Consolidated

Mr A Poole  26,583 30th June 2005 26%  -   2005/6/7  -   NA

Mr S Burraston  25,087 30th June 2005 26%  -   2005/6/7  -   NA

Mr E Sheridan  24,490 30th June 2005 26%  -   2005/6/7  -   NA

Mr A Allen  24,499 30th June 2005 26%  -   2005/6/7  -   NA

Mr B Ward  19,288 30th June 2005 26%  -   2005/6/7  -   NA

(A) The % forfeited in the year represents the reduction from the maximum number of Rights available 
to vest due to the highest level performance criteria not being achieved.

(B) The minimum value of Rights yet to vest is nil as the performance criteria may not be met and 
consequently the Right may not vest.

(C) The maximum value of Rights yet to vest is not determinable as it depends on the market price of 
shares of the Company on the Australian Stock Exchange at the date the Right is exercised. 

Analysis of movements in Rights

The movement during the reporting period, by value, of Rights over ordinary shares in Bradken Limited 
held by the executive Director (the Managing Director) and each of the five named Company executives 
are detailed below.

Value of Rights

Granted in 
year
$ (A)

Exercised in 
year
$ (B)

Forfeited in 
year
$ (C)

Total Rights
value in year

$

Mr BW Hodges  143,917  -    -    143,917 

Mr A Poole  37,482  -    -    37,482 

Mr S Burraston  35,373  -    -    35,373 

Mr E Sheridan  34,531  -    -    34,531 

Mr A Allen  34,544  -    -    34,544 

Mr B Ward  27,196  -    -    27,196 

 313,043  -    -    313,043 



46 ⏐ BRADKEN LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2005 BRADKEN LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2005⏐ 47

(A) The value of Rights granted in the period is the fair value of the Rights calculated at grant date using 
a Black-Scholes model. The total value of the Rights granted is included in the table above. This 
amount is allocated to remuneration over the vesting period (i.e. in years 30 June 2005 to 
30 June 2007).

(B) The value of Rights exercised during the period is calculated as the market price of shares of the 
Company on the Australian Stock Exchange as at close of trading on the date the Rights were 
exercised after deducting the price paid to exercise the Right.

(C) The value of the Rights that lapsed during the year represents the benefit forgone and is calculated 
at the date the Right lapsed using a Black-Scholes model with no adjustments for whether the 
performance criteria have or have not been achieved.

Rounding of amounts

The Company is of a kind referred to in Class Order 98/0100, issued by the Australian Securities and 
Investments Commission, relating to the “rounding off” of amounts in the Directors’ Report.  Amounts in 
the Directors’ Report have been rounded off in accordance with that Class Order to the nearest thousand 
dollars, or in certain cases, to the nearest dollar.

This report is made in accordance with a resolution of the directors:

Brian Hodges
Managing Director

Newcastle
9 September 2005

DIRECTORS’ REPORT
(continued)
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As lead auditor for the audit of Bradken Limited for the period ended 30 June 2005, I declare that, to the 
best of my knowledge and belief, there have been:

(a) no contraventions of the auditor independence requirements of the Corporations Act 2001 in 
relation to the audit; and

(b) no contraventions of any applicable code of professional conduct in relation to the audit.

This declaration is in respect of Bradken Limited and the entities it controlled during the period. 

PricewaterhouseCoopers

D A Turner Newcastle
Partner 9 September 200

DIRECTORS’ REPORT
(continued)

Auditor’s Independence Declaration
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CONSOLIDATED THE COMPANY

2005 2004 2005 2004

Note $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Sales revenue 4  416,661  -    -    -   

Cost of sales 5(b)  (347,584)  -    -    -   

Gross profit  69,077  -    -    -   

Other revenue from ordinary activities 4  5,204  -    5,220  -   

Selling and technical expenses  (18,047)  -    -    -   

Administration expenses  (26,347)  -    -    -   

Borrowing costs 5(b)  (9,513)  -    -    -   

Profit from ordinary activities before related 
income tax expense  20,374  -    5,220  -   

Income tax expense relating to ordinary 
activities 7(a)  (6,233)  -    -    -   

Profit from ordinary activities after related 
income tax expense  14,141  -    5,220  -   

Net Profit attributable to members of the 
parent entity 24  14,141  -    5,220  -   

Non-owner transaction changes in equity

Increase/(decrease) in foreign currency 
translation reserve arising on translation of self-
sustaining foreign operations 23  (430)  -    -    -   

Total revenues, expenses and valuation 
adjustments attributable to members of the 
parent entity recognised directly in equity  (430)  -    -    -   

Total changes in equity from non-owner 
related transactions attributable to members 
of the parent entity  13,711  -    5,220  -   

Basic earnings per ordinary share:
(cents per share) 8  $ 0.195  $   -   

Diluted earnings per ordinary share:
(cents per share) 8  $ 0.194  $   -   

The statements of financial performance are to be read in conjunction with the notes to the financial 
statements set out on pages 51 to 100.

STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE
Bradken Limited and its Controlled Entities
For the 10 month period ended 30 June 2005
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Current assets
Cash assets 10  1,157  -    -    -   

Receivables 11  66,219  -    -    -   

Inventories 12  75,191  -    -    -   

Other 14  1,127  -    -    -   

Total current assets  143,694  -    -    -   

Non-current assets
Receivables 11  8  -    57,687  -   

Other financial assets 13  -    -    172,292  -   

Property, plant and equipment 15  151,625  -    -    -   

Intangibles 16  163,161  -    -    -   

Deferred tax assets 7(d)  11,113  -    11,074  -   

Other 17  4,013  -    -    -   

Total non-current assets  329,920  -    241,053  -   

Total assets  473,614  -    241,053  -   

Current liabilities
Payables 18  53,600  -    -    -   

Interest-bearing liabilities 19  7,269  -    -    -   

Current tax liabilities 7(b)  6,504  -    6,526  -   

Provisions 20  20,925  -    -    -   

Other 21  36  -    -    -   

Total Current Liabilities  88,334  -    6,526  -   

Non-current liabilities
Interest-bearing liabilities 19  130,861  -    -    -   

Deferred tax liabilities 7(c)  1,952  -    1,952  -   

Provisions 20  11,401  -    -    -   

Total non-current liabilities  144,214  -    1,952  -   

Total liabilities  232,548  -    8,478  -   

Net assets  241,066  -    232,575  -   

Equity
Contributed equity 22  232,575  -    232,575  -   

Reserves 23  (430)  -    -    -   

Retained profits 24  8,921  -    -    -   

Total equity  241,066  -    232,575  -   

        

The statements of financial position are to be read in conjunction with the notes to the financial statements set 
out on pages 51 to 100.

STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL POSITION
Bradken Limited and its Controlled Entities

As at 30 June 2005

CONSOLIDATED THE COMPANY

2005 2004 2005 2004

Note $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000
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CONSOLIDATED THE COMPANY

2005 2004 2005 2004

Note $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Cash flows from operating activities
Cash receipts in the course of operations  471,969  -    -    -   

Cash payments in the course of operations  (419,978)  -    -    -   

Interest received  67  -    -    -   

Borrowing costs paid  (11,936)  -    -    -   

Income taxes paid 7(b)  (6,675)  -    -    -   

Net cash provided by / (used in) operating 
activities 32(b)  33,447  -    -    -   

Cash flows from investing activities
Proceeds on disposal of non-current assets  1,564  -    -    -   

Payments for controlled entities

 (net of cash acquired) 31(b)  (139,637)  -    -    -   

Payment for property, plant and equipment  (10,822)  -    -    -   

Payment for businesses 31(b)  (28,188)  -    -    -   

Net cash used in investing activities  (177,083)  -    -    -   

Cash flows from financing activities
Proceeds from issue of shares  204,637  -    -    -   

Transaction costs from issue of shares  (13,483)  -    -    -   

Proceeds from borrowings  28,926  -    -    -   

Repayment of borrowings  (71,133)  -    -    -   

Dividends paid by parent entity  (4,154)  -    -    -   

Net cash provided by financing activities  144,793  -    -    -   

Net increase/(decrease) in cash held  1,157  -    -    -   

Cash at the beginning of the period  -    -    -    -   

Effects of exchange rate changes on the 
balance of cash held in foreign currencies  -    -    -    -   

Cash at the end of the period 32(a)  1,157  -    -    -   

The statements of cash flows are to be read in conjunction with the notes to the financial statements set out 
on pages 51 to 100.

STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
Bradken Limited and its Controlled Entities
For the 10 month period ended 30 June 2005
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1 Statement of significant accounting policies

The significant accounting policies which have been adopted in the preparation of this financial report 
are:

(a) Basis of preparation  

The financial report is a general purpose financial report which has been prepared in accordance 
with Accounting Standards, Urgent Issues Group Consensus Views, other authoritative 
pronouncements of the Australian Accounting Standards Board and the Corporations Act 2001.

It has been prepared on the basis of historical costs and except where stated, does not take into 
account changing money values or fair values of assets.

These accounting policies have been consistently applied by each entity in the consolidated entity.

(b) Principles of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements are prepared by combining the financial statements of all 
the entities that comprise the consolidated entity, being the Company (the parent entity) and its 
controlled entities as defined in Accounting Standard AASB 1024 Consolidated Accounts.

Consistent accounting policies are employed in the preparation and presentation of the consolidated 
financial statements.

The consolidated financial statements include the information and results of each controlled entity 
from the date on which the Company obtains control and until such time as the company ceases to 
control such entity.  In preparing the consolidated financial statements, all intercompany balances 
and transactions, and unrealised profits arising within the consolidated entity are eliminated in full.

A list of controlled entities appears in Note 31 to the financial statements.

(c) Revenue Recognition

Revenues are recognised at fair value of the consideration received net of the amount of goods and 
services tax (GST) payable to the taxation authority.  Exchanges of goods or services of the same 
nature and value without any cash consideration are not recognised as revenues.

Sale of goods 
Revenue from the sale of goods and disposal of other assets is recognised when the consolidated 
entity has passed control of the goods or other assets to the buyer.

Contract revenue 
Contract revenue and expenses are recognised on an individual contract basis using the percentage 
of completion method when the stage of contract completion can be reliably determined, costs 
to date can be clearly identified, and total contract revenue and costs to complete can be reliably 
estimated.

Profit recognition does not normally commence until a contract has progressed to at least 20% 
complete.  The stage of completion is measured by reference to an assessment of total labour hours 
and other costs incurred to date as a percentage of costs for each contract.

Where the outcome of a contract cannot be reliably estimated, contract costs are expensed as 
incurred.   Where it is probable that the cost will be recovered, revenue is recognised to the extent 
of costs incurred.  An expected loss is recognised immediately as an expense.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the period ended 30 June 2005 (continued)
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Interest revenue
Interest revenue is recognised as it accrues, 
taking into account the effective yield on the 
financial asset.

Sale of non-current assets
The gross proceeds of non-current asset 
sales are included as revenue at the date 
control passes to the buyer, usually when an 
unconditional contract of sale is signed.  The 
gain or loss on disposal is calculated as the 
difference between the carrying amount of 
the asset at the time of disposal and the net 
proceeds on disposal.

Royalties
Royalty revenue is recognised on an accrual 
basis in accordance with the substance of the 
relevant agreement.

Dividends
Dividend revenue is recognised net of any 
franking credits.

Revenue from distributions from controlled 
entities is recognised by the parent entity 
when they are declared by the controlled 
entities.

Dividends received out of pre-acquisition 
reserves are eliminated against the carrying 
amount of the investment and not recognised 
in revenue.

(d) Goods and services tax

Revenues, expenses and assets are 
recognised net of the amount of goods and 
services tax (GST), except where the amount 
of GST incurred is not recoverable from the 
taxation authority. In these circumstances, 
the GST is recognised as part of the cost 
of acquisition of the asset or as part of the 
expense.

Receivables and payables are stated with the 
amount of GST included.

The net amount of GST recoverable from, or 
payable to, the ATO is included as a current 
asset or liability in the statement of financial 
position.

Cash flows are included in the statement 

of cash flows on a gross basis. The GST 
components of cash flows arising from 
investing and financing activities which are 
recoverable from, or payable to, the ATO are 
classified as operating cash flows.

(e) Foreign Currency

 All foreign currency transactions are brought 
to account using the exchange rate in effect 
at the date of the transaction.  Foreign 
currency monetary items at reporting date 
are translated at the exchange rate existing 
at that date.

Exchange differences are recognised in net 
profit or loss in the period in which they arise 
except that: 

• exchange differences which relate to 
assets under construction for future 
productive use are included in the cost of 
those assets; and

• exchange differences on transactions 
entered into in order to hedge the 
purchase or sale of specific goods and 
services are deferred and included in the 
measurement of the purchase or sale.

Financial statements of self-sustaining 
foreign controlled entities and branches are 
translated at reporting date using the current 
rate method and exchange differences 
are taken directly to the foreign currency 
translation reserve.

(f) Derivatives

The consolidated entity enters into a variety 
of derivative financial instruments to manage 
its exposure to interest rate and foreign 
exchange rate risks, including forward foreign 
exchange contracts, forward interest rate 
contracts and interest rate swaps. 

Further details of derivative financial 
instruments are disclosed in Note 27 to the 
financial statements.

Foreign Exchange Contracts
Exchange differences on forward foreign 
exchange contracts to hedge the purchase 
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or sale of specific goods and services are 
deferred and included in the measurement of 
the purchase or sale when they are expected 
to reduce exposure to the risks being hedged.

The net amounts receivable or payable 
under forward foreign exchange contracts 
and the associated deferred gains or losses 
are recorded on the statement of financial 
position from the date of inception of the 
hedge transaction.

When recognised, the net receivables or 
payables are revalued using the foreign 
currency exchange rate current at reporting 
date.  Refer to Note 27.

In the event of the early termination of a 
foreign currency hedge of an anticipated 
purchase or sale of goods and services, the 
deferred gains and losses that arose on 
the foreign exchange contract prior to its 
termination are:

• deferred and included in the measurement 
of the purchase or sale when it takes 
place, where the anticipated transaction is 
still expected to occur; or

• recognised in the net profit or loss at 
the date of termination, if the anticipated 
transaction is no longer expected to 
occur.

Interest Rate Swaps
Gains and losses on interest rate swaps 
are included in the determination of interest 
expense.

(g) Borrowing Costs

Borrowing costs include interest, amortisation 
of discounts or premiums relating to 
borrowings, amortisation of ancillary costs in 
connection with arrangement of borrowings, 
foreign exchange differences net of hedged 
amounts on borrowings, including trade 
creditors and lease finance charges.

(h) Taxation

The consolidated entity adopts the income 
statement liability method of tax effect 
accounting.

Income tax expense is calculated on operating 
profit adjusted for permanent differences 
between taxable and accounting income.  
The tax effect of timing differences, which 
arise from items being brought to account 
in different periods for income tax and 
accounting purposes, is carried forward in 
the statement of financial position as a future 
income tax benefit or a provision for deferred 
income tax.

Future income tax benefits are not brought 
to account unless realisation of the asset 
is assured beyond reasonable doubt, or if 
relating to tax losses when realisation is 
virtually certain.

Capital gains tax, if applicable, is provided for 
in establishing period income tax expense 
when an asset is sold.

Tax consolidation
The Company is the head entity in the 
tax-consolidated group comprising all the 
Australian wholly-owned subsidiaries set out 
in Note 31.

The head entity recognises all of the current 
and deferred tax assets and liabilities of the 
tax consolidated group (after elimination of 
intragroup transactions).

The tax-consolidated group has entered into a 
tax funding agreement that requires wholly-
owned subsidiaries to make contributions to 
the head entity for current tax assets and 
liabilities and movements in deferred tax 
balances arising from external transactions 
during the year.

Under the tax funding agreement, the 
contributions are calculated on a “stand-alone 
basis” so that the contributions are equivalent 
to the tax balances generated by external 
transactions entered into by wholly-owned 
subsidiaries.  The contributions are payable 
as set out in the agreement and reflect the 
timing of the head entity’s obligations to make 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the period ended 30 June 2005 (continued)

1 Statement of significant accounting 
policies (continued)



54 ⏐ BRADKEN LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2005 BRADKEN LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2005⏐ 55

payments for tax liabilities to the relevant 
tax authorities. The assets and liabilities 
arising under the tax funding agreement 
are recognised as intercompany assets and 
liabilities with a consequential adjustment to 
income tax expense/revenue.

(i) Earnings per share

Basic earnings per share (“EPS”) is calculated 
by dividing the net profit attributable to 
members of the parent entity for the 
reporting period, after excluding any costs 
of servicing equity (other than ordinary 
shares classified as ordinary shares for 
EPS calculation purposes), by the weighted 
average number of ordinary shares of the 
Company.

Diluted EPS is calculated by dividing the basic 
EPS earnings, adjusted by the after tax effect 
of financing costs associated with dilutive 
potential ordinary shares and the effect 
on revenues and expenses of conversion 
to ordinary shares associated with dilutive 
potential ordinary shares, by the weighted 
average number of ordinary shares and 
dilutive potential ordinary shares.

It should be noted that the Company’s 
weighted average number of ordinary shares 
reflects the period from 13 April 2004 to 30 
June 2005 and is not representative of what 
the weighted average is for the operational 
period of 20 August 2004 to 30 June 2005. 
Further details of share issues during the 
period are contained in Note 22.

(j) Acquisition of Assets

All assets acquired, including property, 
plant and equipment and intangibles other 
than goodwill, are recorded at their cost 
of acquisition, being the fair value of the 
consideration determined as at the date 
of acquisition plus costs incidental to the 
acquisition.  Where subsequent to acquisition 
it becomes known that  assets existed at 
balance date but were not recognised an 
adjustment is made to recognise the asset 
and to adjust goodwill on acquisition.

The costs of assets constructed or internally 

generated by the consolidated entity other 
than goodwill, include the cost of materials 
and direct labour.  Directly attributable 
overheads and other incidental costs are also 
capitalised to the asset.

Expenditure, including that on internally 
generated assets other than research and 
development costs, is only recognised as an 
asset when the consolidated entity controls 
future economic benefits as a result of the 
costs incurred that are probable and can 
be measured reliably.  Costs attributable 
to feasibility and alternative approach 
assessments are expensed as incurred.

Research and development
Research and development expenditure is 
expensed as incurred except to the extent 
that its recoverability is assured beyond 
any reasonable doubt, in which case it is 
capitalised.

Subsequent additional costs
Costs incurred on assets subsequent to initial 
acquisition are capitalised when it is probable 
that future economic benefits in excess of the 
originally assessed performance of the asset 
will flow to the consolidated entity in future 
years, otherwise, the costs are expensed as 
incurred.

(k) Use and revision of accounting 
estimates

The preparation of the financial report 
requires the making of estimations and 
assumptions that affect the recognised 
amounts of assets, liabilities, revenues and 
expenses and the disclosure of contingent 
liabilities.  The estimates and associated 
assumptions are based on historical 
experience and various other factors that 
are believed to be reasonable under the 
circumstances, the results of which form 
the basis of making the judgements about 
carrying values of assets and liabilities 
that are not readily apparent from other 
sources.  Actual results may differ from these 
estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions 
are reviewed on an ongoing basis.  Revisions 



CORPORATE GOVERNANCE STATEMENT

56 ⏐ BRADKEN LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2005

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the period ended 30 June 2005 (continued)

STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE
For the year ending June 2005

BRADKEN LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2005⏐ 57

to accounting estimates are recognised in 
the period in which the estimate is revised if 
the revision affects only that period, or in the 
period of the revision and future periods if 
the revision affects both current and future 
periods.

(l) Receivables

Trade receivables, which are normally 
collected within 60 days, and other 
receivables are recorded at amounts 
due. Other receivables, including loans 
to controlled entities recognised in the 
Company’s financial statements, are recorded 
at amounts due. The collectability is assessed 
at reporting date and specific provision is 
made for any doubtful accounts.

(m) Inventories

Inventories are valued at the lower of cost 
and net realisable value.  Costs, including 
an appropriate portion of fixed and variable 
overhead expenses, are assigned to inventory 
on hand by the method most appropriate to 
each particular class of inventory, with the 
majority being valued on either standard 
or average basis.  Net realisable value is 
determined on the basis of each inventory 
line’s normal selling pattern.  Expenses 
of marketing, selling and distribution to 
customers are estimated and are deducted 
to establish net realisable value.

Construction and service contract work in 
progress
Construction and service contract work 
in progress is carried at cost plus profit 
recognised to date based on the value of work 
completed, less progress billings and less 
provision for foreseeable losses, allocated 
between amounts due from customers and 
amounts due to customers.

Cost includes variable and fixed costs directly 
related to specific contracts, those costs 
related to contract activity in general which 
can be allocated to specific contracts on a 

reasonable basis and other costs specifically 
chargeable under the contract. Costs 
expected to be incurred under penalty clauses 
and rectification provisions are also included.

(n) Investments

Investments in controlled entities are 
recorded in the Company’s financial 
statements at the lower of cost and 
recoverable amount.

(o) Leased Assets

Leases under which the consolidated 
entity assumes substantially all the risks 
and benefits of ownership are classified as 
finance leases.  Other leases are classified as 
operating leases.

Finance Leases
A lease asset and a lease liability equal to the 
present value of the minimum lease payments 
are recorded at the inception of the lease.

Lease liabilities are reduced by repayments 
of principal.  The interest components of the 
lease payments are expensed.  Contingent 
rentals are expensed as incurred.

Operating Leases
Payments made under operating leases are 
expensed on a straight line basis over the 
term of the lease, except where an alternative 
basis is more representative of the pattern 
of benefits to be derived from the leased 
property.

Lease incentives are recognised as liabilities.  
Lease rental payments are allocated between 
rental expense and reduction of the liability, 
on a straight line basis over the period of the 
incentive.

(p) Goodwill

Goodwill, representing the excess of the 
cost of acquisition over the fair value of the 
identifiable net assets acquired, is amortised 
on a straight line basis over the period during 
which the benefits are expected to arise up to 
a maximum of 20 years.

1 Statement of significant accounting 
policies (continued)
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(q) Recoverable Amount of Non-Current Assets

The recoverable amount of an asset is the net amount expected to be recovered through the cash 
inflows and outflows arising from its continued use and subsequent disposal.

Where the carrying amount of a non-current asset is greater than its recoverable amount, the 
asset is written down to its recoverable amount. Where net cash inflows are derived from a group 
of assets working together, recoverable amount is determined on the basis of the relevant group of 
assets. The decrement in the carrying amount is recognised as an expense in net profit or loss in 
the reporting period in which the recoverable amount write-down occurs.

The expected net cash flows included in determining recoverable amounts of non-current assets are 
not discounted to their present value.

(r) Depreciation and amortisation

Depreciation is provided on property, plant and equipment, including freehold buildings but excluding 
land.  Depreciation is calculated on a straight line basis so as to write off the net cost or other 
revalued amount of each asset over its expected useful life.  Assets are depreciated or amortised 
from the date of acquisition, or in respect of internally constructed assets, from the time an asset is 
completed and held ready for use.  

The following estimated useful lives are used in the calculation of depreciation:

 Period Ended 30 June 2005

Property, plant and equipment

Buildings 66 years

Plant and equipment 1 to 20 years

Patterns 1 to 40 years

Intangibles

Goodwill 20 years

Licences 2 to 5 years

(s) Payables

Trade payables and other accounts payable are recognised when the consolidated entity becomes 
obliged to make future payments resulting from the purchase of goods and services.  Trade 
accounts payable are normally settled within 60 days.

(t) Interest bearing liabilities

Bank loans and other loans are recorded at an amount equal to the net proceeds received.  Interest 
expense is recognised on an accrual basis.

Ancillary costs incurred in connection with the arrangement of borrowings are deferred and 
amortised over the shorter of the period of the loan or 5 years and disclosed in Note 17.
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1 Statement of significant accounting 
policies (continued)

(u) Employee Benefits

Wages, salaries, annual leave, sick leave, 
rostered days off and non-monetary benefits
Liabilities for employee benefits for wages, 
salaries, annual leave, sick leave and rostered 
days off represent present obligations 
resulting from employees’ services provided 
to reporting date, calculated at undiscounted 
amounts based on remuneration wage 
and salary rates that the consolidated 
entity expects to pay as at reporting date 
including related on-costs, such as workers 
compensation insurance and payroll tax.

Long service leave
The provision for employee benefits to long 
service leave represents the present value 
of the estimated future cash outflows to be 
made resulting from employees’ services 
provided to reporting date.

The provision is calculated using expected 
future increases in wage and salary rates 
including related on-costs and expected 
settlement dates based on turnover history 
and is discounted using the rates attaching 
to national government bonds at reporting 
date which most closely match the terms 
of maturity of the related liabilities. The 
unwinding of the discount is treated as long 
service leave expense.

Bonus plans
A liability for employee benefits in the form 
of bonus plans is recognised in current 
provisions when there is no realistic 
alternative but to settle the liability and at 
least one of the following conditions is met:

• there are formal terms in the plan for 
determining the amount of the benefit

• the amounts to be paid are determined 
before the time of completion of the 
financial report

• past practice gives clear evidence of the 
amount of the obligation.

Liabilities for bonus plans are expected to be 
settled within 12 months and are measured 
at the amounts expected to be paid when they 
are settled.

Employee share and rights plans
Where shares or rights are issued 
to employees, including directors, as 
remuneration for past services, the difference 
between fair value of the shares or rights 
issued and the consideration received, if any, 
from the employee is expensed.  The fair value 
of the shares or rights issued is recorded in 
contributed equity.

Other shares or rights issued to employees, 
including directors, are recorded in 
contributed equity at the fair value of 
consideration received, if any.

Transaction costs associated with issuing 
shares and rights are recognised in equity 
subject to the extent of the proceeds 
received, otherwise expensed.  Other 
administrative costs are expensed.

Superannuation plan
The consolidated entity contributes to 
several accumulation superannuation plans.  
Contributions are recognised as an expense 
as they are made.

(v) Provisions

A provision is recognised in the accounts 
when there is a legal, equitable or 
constructive obligation as a result of a past 
event and it is probable that a future sacrifice 
of economic benefits will be required to settle 
the obligation, the timing or amount of which 
is uncertain.

If the effect is material, a provision is 
determined by discounting the expected 
future cash flows (adjusted for expected 
future risks) required to settle the obligation 
at a pre-tax rate that reflects current market 
assessments of the time value of money and 
the risks specific to the liability most closely 
matching the expected future payments, 
except where noted below. The unwinding of 
the discount is treated as part of the expense 
related to the particular provision.



CORPORATE GOVERNANCE STATEMENT

58 ⏐ BRADKEN LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2005

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the period ended 30 June 2005 (continued)

STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE
For the year ending June 2005

BRADKEN LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2005⏐ 59

When some or all of the economic benefits 
required to settle a provision are expected to 
be recovered from a third party, the recovery 
receivable is recognised as an asset when 
it is probable that that the recovery will be 
received and the recovery is measured on a 
basis consistent with the measurement of the 
related provision.

In the statement of financial performance, the 
expense recognised in respect of a provision 
is presented net of the recovery. In the 
statement of financial position, the provision is 
recognised net of the recovery receivable only 
when the entity:

• has a legally recognised right to set-off the 
recovery receivable and the provision and

• intends to settle on a net basis, or to 
realise the asset and settle the provision 
simultaneously.

Dividends
A provision for dividends payable is recognised 
in the reporting period in which the dividends 
are declared, for the entire undistributed 
amount, regardless of the extent to which 
they will be paid in cash.

Stock Obsolescence
All inventory items are reviewed on a regular 
basis during the year and a provision raised 
for products which have not been sold for one 
year.

Warranties
Products are warranted against faulty 
workmanship and in some cases these 
are specifically extended to periods up to 
seven years or hours used depending on 
the type of product and contract in place.  
Rectification claims are settled in cash or 
by repair of the item, at the discretion of the 
consolidated entity.  Provision for warranty 
claims are made for claims received and 
claims expected to be received in relation to 
sales made prior to reporting date adjusted 
for specific information arising from internal 
quality assurance processes.  Significant 
uncertainties relate to estimates for 
construction provisions as these depend on 
circumstances particular to each site. 

(w) Licences

Licences are recorded at cost being the fair 
value of the consideration determined as at 
the date of acquisition and are amortised on 
a straight line basis over the period which the 
expected benefits will arise.

2 Rounding of amounts

The Company is of a kind referred to in Class 
Order 98/0100, issued by the Australian 
Securities and Investments Commission, 
relating to the “rounding off” of amounts in 
the financial report. Amounts in the financial 
report have been rounded off in accordance 
with that Class Order to the nearest thousand 
dollars, or in certain cases to the nearest 
dollar.

There were no changes in accounting policies 
in Bradken Limited during the period.

3 Reporting period and comparatives

The Company has obtained relief from 
the Australian Securities and Investments 
Commission under section 340 of the 
Corporations Act 2001 to allow the 
company’s first half year reporting period to 
be 13 April 2004 to 31 December 2004.  
The first full year reporting period is 13 April 
2004 to 30 June 2005.

The Company was incorporated on 13 April 
2004 and as such no comparative numbers 
are disclosed in this financial report.

It should be noted that whilst this period 
commenced on 13 April 2004 the Company 
did not commence operations until 20 August 
2004 (at the time of the IPO) and hence 
the financial results in this report cover the 
operational period 20 August 2004 to 30 
June 2005.
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CONSOLIDATED THE COMPANY

2005 2004 2005 2004

Note $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

4 Revenue from ordinary activities

Sales of goods revenue from operating 
activities  416,661  -    -    -   

Other revenues:

From operating activities

Net foreign exchange gain  4,080  -    -    -   

Interest revenue:

Other entities  67  -    -    -   

Dividends received

Related parties  -    -    5,220  -   

Rental income  183  -    -    -   

Royalty income  166  -    -    -   

Other (aggregate of immaterial items)  645  -    -    -   

From outside operating activities

Gross proceeds from the sale of non-
current assets  63  -    -    -   

Total other revenues  5,204  -    5,220  -   

Total revenue from ordinary activities  421,865  -    5,220  -   

5 Profit from ordinary activities 
before income tax expense

(a) Individually significant expenses/
(revenues) included in profit from 
ordinary activities before income tax 
expense

Foreign exchange gain on early 
settlement of hedges  (3,851)  -    -    -   

(b) Profit from ordinary activities before 
income tax expense has been arrived at 
after charging/(crediting) the following 
items:

Cost of sales  347,584  -    -    -   

Borrowing costs:

Interest - other entities  8,308  -    -    -   

Other borrowing costs  368  -    -    -   

Borrowing costs amortisation  837  -    -    -   

 9,513  -    -    -   



CORPORATE GOVERNANCE STATEMENT

60 ⏐ BRADKEN LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2005

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the period ended 30 June 2005 (continued)

STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE
For the year ending June 2005

BRADKEN LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2005⏐ 61

Depreciation of non-current assets:

Property, plant and equipment  7,294  -    -    -   

Amortisation of non-current assets:

Goodwill  5,205  -    -    -   

Other intangibles  8,689  -    -    -   

Leased Plant & Equipment  51  -    -    -   

Capitalised borrowing and loan setup 
costs  837  -    -    -   

 14,782  -    -    -   

Research and development costs written 
off  4,344  -    -    -   

Net transfers to /(from) provisions:

Warranty  (67)  -    -    -   

Stock Obsolescence  (321)  -    -    -   

Employee Benefits  1,415  -    -    -   

Net bad and doubtful debts expense 
including movements in doubtful debts 
provision  85  -    -    -   

Operating lease rental minimum lease 
payments  3,631  -    -    -   

6 Auditors’ remuneration
Audit services

Auditors of the Company

PricewaterhouseCoopers

- audit and review of financial 
reports  95,000  -    -    -   

This fee covers all of the consolidated entity 
of companies

Other auditors

KPMG

- audit and review of financial 
reports  143,000  -    -    -   

Deloitte

Auditing the financial reports of 
controlled entities  23,661  -    -    -   

 261,661  -    -    -   

CONSOLIDATED THE COMPANY

2005 2004 2005 2004

Note $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

5 Profit from ordinary activities before income tax expense (continued)
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Other services

Other Auditors

KPMG

- other assurance services  13,500  -    -    -   

- taxation services  37,595  -    -    -   

KPMG related practices

Due dilligence services  221,485  -    -    -   

Deloitte

Tax services for controlled entities  8,872  -    -    -   

Due dilligence servies  129,800  -    -    -   

 411,252  -    -    -   

7 Taxation
(a) Income Tax Expense

Prima facie income tax expense 
calculated at 30%

on the profit from ordinary activities  6,112  -    1,566  -   

Increase in income tax expense due to:

Amortisation of intangible assets  1,563  -    -    -   

Effect of higher tax rates of tax on 
overseas income  7  -    -    -   

Income tax expense related to current 
and deferred tax transactions of the 
wholly-owned subsidiaries in the tax-
consolidated group  -    -    6,153  -   

Sundry items  17  -    -    -   

Decrease in income tax expense due to:

Deductible fixed assets amortisation  (61)  -    -    -   

Amortisation of IPO costs on 
acquisition  (809)  -    -    -   

Recovery of income tax under a tax 
sharing agreement  -    -    (6,153)  -   

Non assessable intergroup dividend  -    -    (1,566)  -   

Research and Development allowance  (324)  -    -    -   

Sundry items  (272)  -    -    -   

Total income tax expense attributable to 
profit from ordinary activities  6,233  -    -    -   

CONSOLIDATED THE COMPANY

2005 2004 2005 2004

Note $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

6 Auditors’ remuneration (continued)
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Total income tax expense is made up of :

Current income tax provision  5,734  -    5,651  -   

Deferred income tax provision  194  -    194  -   

Future income tax benefit  577  -    580  -   

Tax related payable from wholly-owned 
subsidiary  -    -    (6,153)  -   

Sundry items  (272)  -    (272)  -   

 6,233  -    -    -   

         

(b) Current Tax Liabilities

Provision for current income tax

Movements during the period were as 
follows :

Balance at beginning of period  -    -    -    -   

Balances acquired on acquisition of 
entities  7,717  -    7,773  -   

Income tax paid :

– operating activities – prior year  (5,995)  -    (6,069)  -   

– operating activities – current year  (680)  -    (557)  -   

Income tax expense / (revenue) related 
to wholly-owned subsidiaries transactions 
in a tax consolidated group  5,734  -    5,651  -   

Sundry items  (272)  -    (272)  -   

Balance at end of period  6,504  -    6,526  -   

        

(c) Deferred Tax Liabilities

Provision for Deferred Income Tax

Provision for deferred income tax 
comprises the estimated expense at the 
applicable rate of 30% on the following 
items:

Difference in depreciation and 
amortisation of property, plant & 
equipment for accounting and income tax 
purposes  1,890  -    1,890  -   

Capitalised leases  52  52 

Unrealised currency differences  10  -    10  -   

 1,952  -    1,952  -   

CONSOLIDATED THE COMPANY

2005 2004 2005 2004

Note $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

7 Taxation (continued)
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(d) Deferred Tax Assets

Future Income Tax Benefit

Future income tax benefit comprises the 
estimated future benefit, at the applicable 
rate of 30% on the following items :

Provisions and accrued employee 
benefits not currently deductible  11,019  -    10,980  -   

Other items  94  -    94  -   

 11,113  -    11,074  -   

        

8 Earnings per share
Classification of securities as ordinary 
shares

Ordinary shares and included in basic 
earnings per share.

CONSOLIDATED

2005 2004

$’000 $’000

Earnings reconciliation

Net profit  14,141  -   

Net profit attributable to outside equity 
interests  -    -   

Basic earnings  14,141  -   

Diluted earnings  14,141  -   

Allocation of earnings to category of 
ordinary share:

Basic

- ordinary shares  14,141  -   

Diluted

- ordinary shares  14,141  -   

CONSOLIDATED THE COMPANY

2005 2004 2005 2004

Note $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

7 Taxation (continued)
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8 Earnings per share (continued)
CONSOLIDATED

2005 2004

Number Number

Weighted average number of shares 
used as the denominator

Number for basic earnings per share

Ordinary shares  72,646,778  -   

Number for diluted earnings per share

Ordinary shares  72,646,778  -   

Effect of Performance Rights on issue  67,906  -   

 72,714,684  -   

The weighted average number of ordinary shares reported above reflects the period from 13 April 2004 
to 30 June 2005 and is not representative of what the weighted average is for the operational period 
of 20 August 2004 to 30 June 2005. Further details of share numbers on issue during the period are 
contained in Note 22.

9 Segment reporting

Segment results, assets and liabilities include items directly attributable to a segment as well as 
those that can be allocated on a reasonable basis.  Unallocated items mainly comprise interest 
or dividend-earning assets and revenue, interest bearing loans, borrowings and expenses, and 
corporate assets and expenses.

Segment capital expenditure is the total cost incurred during the period to acquire segment assets 
that are expected to be used for more than one period.

Products and Services within Each Business Segment
For management purposes, the consolidated entity is organised into four major operating divisions 
– Industrial, Mining, Mineral Processing and Rail.  These divisions are the basis on which the 
consolidated entity reports its primary segment information.  The principal products and services of 
each of these divisions are as follows:

• Industrial supplies cast, machined and fabricated components manufactured to customer 
specifications or purpose designed to suit customer needs into industries such as Smelters and 
Refineries, Steel Manufacturers, Power Generation Providers and Sugar Production.

• Mining offers the design, supply and service of wear components for all types of earth moving 
equipment in the Mining and Quarry industries.

• Mineral Processing supplies equipment, servicing and consumables to the mineral processing 
and quarrying industries.

• Rail is a package provider of Freight Rollingstock products and services including freight wagons, 
bogies, drawgear, inventory management, spare and renewed parts and the maintenance and 
refurbishment of rollingstock. 
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9 Segment reporting (continued)

          Industrial           Mining Mineral Processing        Rail         Other   Consolidated

2005 2004 2005 2004 2005 2004 2005 2004 2005 2004 2005 2004

Primary reporting - Business segments $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Revenue

External segment revenue  50,346  -    153,354  -    52,152  -    160,809  -    -    -    416,661  -   

Total segment revenue  416,661  -   

Unallocated revenue  5,204  -   

Total revenue  421,865  -   

Result

Segment result  13,498  -    46,594  -    12,184  -    32,115  -    -    -    104,391  -   

Unallocated revenues and expenses  (84,017)  -   

Profit from ordinary activities before income tax  20,374  -   

Income tax expense  (6,233)  -   

Profit from ordinary activities after income tax  14,141  -   

Extraordinary items after tax  -    -   

Net profit  14,141  -   

Depreciation and amortisation  1,357  -    7,487  -    1,224  -    5,846  -    6,162  -    22,076  -   

Non cash expenses other than depreciation and 
amortisation  126  -    314  -    653  -    (71)  -    90  -    1,112  -   

Assets

Segment assets  54,454  -    133,840  -    58,996  -    90,022  -    -    -    337,312  -   

Unallocated corporate assets  136,302  -   

Consolidated total asets  473,614  -   

Liabilities

Segment liabilities  18,346  -    27,123  -    14,283  -    30,504  -    -    -    90,256  -   

Unallocated corporate liabilities  142,292  -   

Consolidated total liabilities  232,548  -   

Acquisition of non-current assets  2,967  -    2,821  -    1,644  -    3,306  -    84  -    10,822  -   

(excluding business acquisitions)

Australia Other * Consolidated

2005 2004 2005 2004 2005 2004

Secondary reporting - Geographical segments $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

External revenue by location of customers  351,993  -    64,668  -    416,661  -   

* The majority of revenue classified as “Other” relates to the USA, Indonesia and various European countries.
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9 Segment reporting (continued)

          Industrial           Mining Mineral Processing        Rail         Other   Consolidated

2005 2004 2005 2004 2005 2004 2005 2004 2005 2004 2005 2004

Primary reporting - Business segments $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Revenue

External segment revenue  50,346  -    153,354  -    52,152  -    160,809  -    -    -    416,661  -   

Total segment revenue  416,661  -   

Unallocated revenue  5,204  -   

Total revenue  421,865  -   

Result

Segment result  13,498  -    46,594  -    12,184  -    32,115  -    -    -    104,391  -   

Unallocated revenues and expenses  (84,017)  -   

Profit from ordinary activities before income tax  20,374  -   

Income tax expense  (6,233)  -   

Profit from ordinary activities after income tax  14,141  -   

Extraordinary items after tax  -    -   

Net profit  14,141  -   

Depreciation and amortisation  1,357  -    7,487  -    1,224  -    5,846  -    6,162  -    22,076  -   

Non cash expenses other than depreciation and 
amortisation  126  -    314  -    653  -    (71)  -    90  -    1,112  -   

Assets

Segment assets  54,454  -    133,840  -    58,996  -    90,022  -    -    -    337,312  -   

Unallocated corporate assets  136,302  -   

Consolidated total asets  473,614  -   

Liabilities

Segment liabilities  18,346  -    27,123  -    14,283  -    30,504  -    -    -    90,256  -   

Unallocated corporate liabilities  142,292  -   

Consolidated total liabilities  232,548  -   

Acquisition of non-current assets  2,967  -    2,821  -    1,644  -    3,306  -    84  -    10,822  -   

(excluding business acquisitions)

Australia Other * Consolidated

2005 2004 2005 2004 2005 2004

Secondary reporting - Geographical segments $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

External revenue by location of customers  351,993  -    64,668  -    416,661  -   

* The majority of revenue classified as “Other” relates to the USA, Indonesia and various European countries.
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CONSOLIDATED THE COMPANY

2005 2004 2005 2004

Note $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

10 Cash assets
Cash at bank and on hand  1,157  -    -    -   

32  1,157  -    -    -   

11 Receivables
Current
Trade debtors  66,692  -    -    -   
Less: Provision for doubtful trade 
debtors  (473)  -    -    -   

 66,219  -    -    -   
Non Current
Amounts owing by related parties  -    -    57,687  -   
Other  8  -    -    -   

 8  -    57,687  -   

12 Inventories
Current
Raw materials and stores - at cost  10,359  -    -    -   
Work in progress - at cost  21,583  -    -    -   
Finished goods:

- at cost  41,397  -    -    -   
- stock obsolescence provision  (1,905)  -    -    -   

Construction work in progress:
- amounts due from customers  3,757  -    -    -   

 75,191  -    -    -   

Construction work in progress 
comprises:
Contract costs incurred to date  101,104  -    -    -   
Profit recognised to date  20,557  -    -    -   

 121,661  -    -    -   
Less: Provision for losses  -    -    -    -   

 121,661  -    -    -   
Less: Progress billings  (117,904)  -    -    -   

Net construction work in progress  3,757  -    -    -   
Net Construction work in progress 
comprises:

Amounts due from customers 
- inventories  3,757  -    -    -   
Amounts due to customers - trade 
creditors  -    -    -    -   

 3,757  -    -    -   

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the period ended 30 June 2005 (continued)
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13 Other financial assets
Non-current

Shares in controlled entities - at cost  -    -    172,292  -   

 -    -    172,292  -   

14 Other current assets
Prepayments  1,076  -    -    -   

Deferred foreign currency hedge 
receivable  36  -    -    -   

Other  15  -    -    -   

 1,127  -    -    -   

15 Property, plant and equipment
Freehold land

At cost  10,343  -    -    -   

 10,343  -    -    -   

Buildings

At cost  46,893 

Accumulated depreciation  (465)

 46,428  -    -    -   

Leasehold improvements

At cost  322 

Accumulated amortisation  (9)

 313  -    -    -   

Plant and equipment

At cost  96,345 

Accumulated depreciation  (6,793)

 89,552  -    -    -   

Leased plant and equipment

At cost  752 

Accumulated amortisation  (42)

 710  -    -    -   

Capital works in progress

At cost  4,279 

Total property, plant & equipment 
net book value  151,625  -    -    -   

Refer to Note 19 for details of security over property, plant and equipment.

CONSOLIDATED THE COMPANY

2005 2004 2005 2004

Note $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000
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Reconciliations

Reconciliations of the carrying amounts for each class of property, plant and equipment are set out below:

CONSOLIDATED
2005
$’000

THE COMPANY
2005
$’000

Freehold land
Carrying amount at beginning of period  -    -   

Additions  1,535  -   

Acquisition through entity acquired  8,808  -   

Carrying amount at end of period  10,343  -   

Buildings
Carrying amount at beginning of period  -    -   

Additions  2,496  -   

Acquisition through entity acquired  44,397  -   

Depreciation  (465)  -   

Carrying amount at end of period  46,428  -   

Leasehold improvements
Carrying amount at beginning of period  -    -   

Acquisition through entity acquired  325  -   

Amortisation  (9)  -   

Net foreign currency differences on 
translation of self-sustaining operations  (3)  -   

Carrying amount at end of period  313  -   

Plant and equipment
Carrying amount at beginning of period  -    -   

Additions  12,995  -   

Acquisition through entity acquired  73,584  -   

Transfer from capital works in progress  9,867  -   

Disposals  (66)  -   

Depreciation  (6,829)  -   

Net foreign currency differences on 
translation of self-sustaining operations  1  -   

Carrying amount at end of period  89,552  -   

Leased plant and equipment
Carrying amount at beginning of period  -    -   

Acquisition through entity acquired  752  -   

Amortisation  (42)  -   

Carrying amount at end of period  710  -   

Capital works in progress
Carrying amount at beginning of period  -    -   

Additions  10,512  -   

Acquisition through entity acquired  3,634  -   

Transfers to property, plant and equipment  (9,867)  -   

Carrying amount at end of period  4,279  -   

Net book value at end of period  151,625  -   

15 Property, plant and equipment (continued)
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CONSOLIDATED THE COMPANY

2005 2004 2005 2004

Note $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

16 Intangible assets
Goodwill

At cost  123,413  -    -    -   

Accumulated amortisation  (5,205)  -    -    -   

 118,208  -    -    -   

Licences

At cost  53,642  -    -    -   

Accumulated amortisation  (8,689)  -    -    -   

 44,953  -    -    -   

 163,161  -    -    -   

Aggregate amortisation recognised 
as an expense during the period:

Goodwill  5,205  -    -    -   

Licences  8,689  -    -    -   

 13,894  -    -    -   

17 Other non-current assets
Capitalised borrowing and loan setup 
costs  4,850  -    -    -   

Accumulated amortisation  (837)  -    -    -   

 4,013  -    -    -   

Amortisation recognised as an 
expense during the period:

Capitalised borrowing and loan setup 
costs - amortisation  837  -    -    -   

 837  -    -    -   

18 Payables
Trade creditors  49,960  -    -    -   

Other creditors and accruals  3,640  -    -    -   

 53,600  -    -    -   

19 Interest bearing liabilities
Current - Secured:

Bank loans (i)  7,000  -    -    -   

Lease Liabilities (ii)  160  -    -    -   

Hire Purchase Liabilities (iii)  109  -    -    -   
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 7,269  -    -    -   

Non-current - Secured:

Bank loans (i)  130,238  -    -    -   

Lease Liabilities (ii)  113  -    -    -   

Hire Purchase Liabilities (iii)  510  -    -    -   

 130,861  -    -    -   

(i) In accordance with the security arrangements fixed and floating charges secure all the assets and 
undertakings of the consolidated entity together with mortgages over all the consolidated entity’s 
interest in real property.

(ii) The consolidated entity’s lease liabilities are secured by the leased assets of $710,000, as in the event 
of default, the assets revert to the lessor.

(iii) The consolidated entity’s hire purchase liabilities are secured by the hire purchased assets of 
$593,000, as in the event of default, the assets revert to the lessor.

Financing arrangements

The consolidated entity has access to 
the following lines of credit:

Total facilities available:

Bank loans  140,500  -    -    -   

Bank overdrafts  20,000  -    -    -   

Standby letters of credit and bank 
guarantees  20,000  -    -    -   

 180,500  -    -    -   

Facilities utilised at reporting date:

Bank loans  137,238  -    -    -   

Standby letters of credit and bank 
guarantees  14,930  -    -    -   

 152,168  -    -    -   

Facilities not utilised at reporting date:

Bank loans  3,262  -    -    -   

Bank overdrafts  20,000  -    -    -   

Standby letters of credit and bank 
guarantees  5,070  -    -    -   

 28,332  -    -    -   

Bank loans

All bank loans are denominated in Australian dollars. The bank loans amount in current liabilities 
comprises the portion of the consolidated entity’s bank loan payable within one year. The carrying 
amount of the pledged properties are as follows:

Freehold land  10,343  -    -    -   

Buildings and leasehold improvements  46,741  -    -    -   

Plant and equipment and capital work 
in progress  93,831  -    -    -   

Total pledged  150,915  -    -    -   

19 Interest bearing liabilities (continued)



CORPORATE GOVERNANCE STATEMENT

72 ⏐ BRADKEN LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2005

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the period ended 30 June 2005 (continued)

STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE
For the year ending June 2005

BRADKEN LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2005⏐ 73

Fees are payable at rates between 0.48% and 0.56% per annum on the amount of the facility that has 
not been drawn down .  

For further details in respect to the secured borrowings refer to note 27(a).

Bank overdraft, standby letter of credit and bank guarantee facilities

The standby letter of credit and bank guarantee facility is a bullet revolving working capital facility 
incorporating a bank overdraft set-off sub-component and a bank guarantee and letter of credit sub-
component. The facility provides access to a line of credit up to a limit of $40,000,000 at a cost of 
0.85% per annum.

CONSOLIDATED THE COMPANY

2005 2004 2005 2004

Note $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

20 Provisions
Current

Employee benefits (refer note 33)  14,683  -    -    -   

Warranty  6,242  -    -    -   

 20,925  -    -    -   

Non-current

Employee benefits (refer note 33)  8,899  -    -    -   

Warranty  2,502  -    -    -   

 11,401  -    -    -   

Reconciliations

Reconciliations of the carrying 
amounts of each class of provision 
except for employee benefits are set 
out below.

Warranty - Current

Carrying amount at beginning of 
period  -    -    -    -   

Increase through acquisition of entity  8,673  -    -    -   

Provisions made during the period  809  -    -    -   

Payments made during the period  (3,240)  -    -    -   

Carrying amount at end of period  6,242  -    -    -   

Warranty - Non Current

Carrying amount at beginning of 
period  -    -    -    -   

Increase through acquisition of entity  2,502  -    -    -   

Carrying amount at end of period  2,502  -    -    -   

19 Interest bearing liabilities (continued)
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21 Other current liabilities
Deferred foreign currency hedge 
exchange difference  36  -    -    -   

 36  -    -    -   

22 Contributed Equity
Share capital

102,766,699 ordinary shares, fully 
paid  232,575  -    232,575  -   

 232,575  -    232,575  -   

Ordinary shares

Movements during the year

Balance at beginning of period

0 shares  -    -    -    -   

Shares issued

– 3 at $1.00 per share on 
incorporation  -    -    -    -   

– 102,080,000 for cash pursuant to 
a prospectus  244,992  -    244,992  -   

– Transaction costs arising from 
issue for cash pursuant to 
prospectus  (13,482)  -    (13,482)  -   

– 270,400 under the Employee 
Share Ownership Plan  -    -    -    -   

 
– 416,296 under the Dividend 

Reinvestment Plan  1,065  -    1,065  -   

Balance at end of period  232,575  -    232,575  -   

On 14 April 2004 Bradken Limited issued 3 shares at a price of $1.00 per share on incorporation of 
the company.

On 20 August 2004 Bradken Limited issued 102,080,000 shares at a price of $2.40 each in 
accordance with a prospectus dated 9 August 2004.  Transaction costs of $13,482,000 were 
recognised as a reduction of the proceeds of issue.

On 29 October 2004 Bradken Limited issued 270,400 shares to eligible employees under the 
“Employee Gift Offer” outlined in the Australian Employee Gift Offer Booklet.

On 11 April 2005 Bradken Limited issued 416,296 shares to existing shareholders under the Dividend 
Reinvestment Plan.

Terms and conditions
Holders of ordinary shares are entitled to receive dividends as declared from time to time and are 
entitled to one vote per share at shareholders’ meetings.

In the event of winding up of the Company, ordinary shareholders rank after all other shareholders and 
creditors and are fully entitled to any proceeds of liquidation.

CONSOLIDATED THE COMPANY

2005 2004 2005 2004

Note $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000
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23 Reserves
Foreign currency translation  (430)  -    -    -   

 (430)  -    -    -   

Movements during the period

Foreign Currency Translation Reserve

Balance at beginning of period  -    -    -    -   

Net translation adjustment  (430)  -    -    -   

Balance at end of period  (430)  -    -    -   

Nature and purpose of reserves

Foreign currency translation

Exchange differences relating to the translation of self-sustaining foreign controlled entities are brought 
to account by entries made directly to the foreign currency translation reserve, as described in note 1.

24 Retained Profits
Balance at beginning of period  -    -    -    -   

Net profit attributable to members of 
the parent entity  14,141  -    5,220  -   

Dividends recognised during the 
period  (5,220)  -    (5,220)  -   

Impact of change in outside equity 
interest  -    -    -    -   

Balance at end of financial period  8,921  -    -    -   

25 Dividends
Dividends recognised in the current year by the Company are:

Cents
per

share

Total
amount
$’000

Franked/
unfranked Date of payments

2005

Interim 2005 ordinary 5.1  5,220 franked 23 March 2005

Total amount  5,220 

Franked dividends declared or paid during the year were franked at the tax rate of 30%.

Subsequent events

Since the end of the period, the directors declared the following dividends:

Final 2005 ordinary 9.2  9,455 franked 12 October 2005

Total amount  9,455 

CONSOLIDATED THE COMPANY

2005 2004 2005 2004

Note $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000
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The financial effect of these dividends have not been brought to account in the financial statements for 
the period ended 30 June 2005 and will be recognised in subsequent financial reports.

CONSOLIDATED

2005 2004

$’000 $’000
Dividend franking account

30% franking credits available to shareholders of Bradken Limited for 
subsequent financial years  12,633  -   

The above available amounts are based on the balance of the dividend franking account at period end 
adjusted for:

(a) franking credits that will arise from the payment of the current tax liability

(b) franking debits that will arise from the payment of dividends recognised as a liability at the period 
end

(c) franking credits that will arise from the receipt of dividends recognised as receivables by the tax 
consolidated group at the period end

(d) franking credits that the entity may be prevented from distributing in subsequent years.

The ability to utilise the franking credits is dependent upon there being sufficient available profits to 
declare dividends.

CONSOLIDATED THE COMPANY

2005 2004 2005 2004

Note $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

26 Total equity reconciliation
Total equity at beginning of year  -  -  -  - 

Total changes in parent entity interest 
in equity recognised in statement of 
financial performance  13,711  -  5,220  - 

Transactions with owners as owners:

Contributions of equity  232,575  -  232,575  - 

Dividends  (5,220)  -  (5,220)  - 

Total changes in outside equity 
interest  -  -  -  - 

Total equity at end of year  241,066  -    232,575  -   

25 Dividends (continued)
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27 Additional financial instruments disclosure 

The consolidated entity enters into a variety of derivative financial instruments to manage its 
exposure to interest rate and foreign exchange rate risk, including:

• interest rate swaps to mitigate the risk of interest rate rises; 

• interest rate caps to mitigate the risk of rising interest rates; and

• forward exchange contracts to hedge the exchange rate risk arising on the export of product and 
import of material from primarily the United States.

The consolidated entity does not enter into or trade derivative financial instruments for speculative 
purposes.

(a) Interest Rate Risk

The consolidated entity uses various types of interest rate contracts in managing interest rate 
exposure, including interest rate swap contracts and forward interest rate contracts.

Interest rate swaps and interest rate cap agreements
Under interest rate swap contracts the consolidated entity agrees to exchange the difference 
between fixed and floating rate interest amounts calculated on agreed notional principal amounts. 
Such contracts enable the consolidated entity to mitigate the risk of rising interest rates.

Under the interest rate cap contract the consolidated entity has agreed to pay an up-front amount 
to cap the interest rate to a specified rate on agreed notional principal amounts. Such contracts 
enable the company to mitigate the risk of rising interest rates.

Interest rate risk exposures
The following table details the notional principal amounts and remaining terms of interest rate swap 
contracts outstanding as at reporting date. 

Outstanding Contracts                Weighted Average            Contracted

                Interest Rate      Notional Principal Amount

2005 2004 2005 2004

% % $’000 $’000

2 to 5 years 6.008% -  54,500  -   

 54,500  -   

The average interest rate is based on the outstanding balances at the end of the financial year.

The consolidated entity is not exposed to interest rate risk except for    

•  cash balances on hand of $1,157,000 which attract an average variable interest rate of 
1.891%;

• secured borrowings of $54,500,000 which attract a fixed interest rate of 6.008%; and



78 ⏐ BRADKEN LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2005

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the period ended 30 June 2005 (continued)

BRADKEN LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2005⏐ 79

27 Additional financial instruments disclosure (continued)

•  secured borrowings of $82,738,495  which attract an average variable interest rate of 
7.0107%.

• lease liabilities of $273,000  which attract a fixed interest rate of 6.95%.

• hire purchase liabilities of $619,000  which attract a fixed interest rate of 7.33%.

(b) Foreign exchange risk       

It is the policy of the consolidated entity to enter into forward foreign exchange contracts to cover all 
foreign currency exposures other than those effectively covered within the natural hedging pool.

The following table details the forward foreign currency contracts outstanding as at reporting date:

CONSOLIDATED

2005 2004 2005 2004

Outstanding Contracts Weighted Average Rate $’000 $’000

Buy South African Rands

Less than 3 months  4.8481  -    200  -   

 200  -   

Buy Great British Pounds

Less than 3 months  0.4087  -    1,785  -   

3 to 6 months  0.4066  -    960  -   

Longer than 6 months but less than 1 year  0.4065  -    480  -   

 3,225  -   

Sell Japanese Yen

Longer than 1 year but not later than 2 years  77.3300  -    1,060  -   

 1,060  -   

The net deferred costs and exchange gains and losses on hedges of anticipated foreign currency 
purchases and sales recognised in other current assets in Note 14 and the timing of their 
anticipated recognition as part of sales or purchases are:

CONSOLIDATED

Net gains/(losses)

2005 2004

$’000 $’000

Less than 3 months  69  -   

3 to 6 months  35  -   

Longer than 6 months but less than 1 year  18  -   

Longer than 1 year but not later than 2 years  (86)  -   

 36  -   
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27 Additional financial instruments disclosure (continued)

(c) Credit Risk       

Credit risk refers to the risk that a counterparty will default on its contractual obligations resulting 
in financial loss to the consolidated entity.  The consolidated entity has adopted the policy of only 
dealing with creditworthy counterparties and obtaining sufficient collateral or other security where 
appropriate, as a means of mitigating the risk of financial loss from defaults.  The consolidated entity 
measures credit risk on a fair value basis.

The consolidated entity does not have any significant credit risk exposure to any single counterparty 
or any group of counterparties having similar characteristics.

The carrying amount of financial assets recorded in the financial statements, net of any allowances 
for losses, represents the consolidated entity’s maximum exposure to credit risk without taking 
account of the value of any collateral or other security obtained. 

(d) Net fair values of financial assets and liabilities

The carrying amount of financial assets and financial liabilities recorded in the financial statements 
approximates their net fair values. 

The net fair values of financial assets and financial liabilities are determined as follows:

• the net fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities with standard terms and conditions 
and traded on active liquid markets are determined with reference to quoted market prices; and

• the net fair value of other financial assets and financial liabilities are determined in accordance 
with generally accepted pricing models based on discounted cash flow theory.

The carrying amount of financial instruments not recorded in the statement of financial position and 
detailed in this note reflects the estimated amounts which the consolidated entity expects to pay or 
receive to terminate contracts (net of transaction costs), or replace the contracts at their current 
market rates as at reporting date.  This is based on market  approximates of their net fair values. 

CONSOLIDATED

2005 2004

$’000 $’000

Interest rate swaps  872  -   
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CONSOLIDATED THE COMPANY

2005 2004 2005 2004

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

28 Commitments

Capital Expenditure Commitments

Land & Buildings

Contracted but not provided for and payable:

Within one year  148  -    -    -   

 148  -    -    -   

Plant and equipment

Contracted but not provided for and payable:

Within one year  3,587  -    -    -   

One year or later and not later than five years  19  -    -    -   

 3,606  -    -    -   

Non-cancellable operating lease expense 
commitments

Future operating lease commitments not provided 
for in the financial statements and payable:

Within one year  4,827  -    -    -   

One year or later and not later than five years  6,887  -    -    -   

Later than five years  24  -    -    -   

 11,738  -    -    -   

Operating leases relate to factories and plant and equipment with lease terms generally between 1 
to 5 years with a small amount being payable over greater than 5 years.  Leases generally provide 
the consolidated entity with a right of renewal at which time all terms are renegotiated.

CONSOLIDATED THE COMPANY

2005 2004 2005 2004

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Finance Lease Payment Commitments

Finance lease commitments are payable:

Within one year  172  -    -    -   

One year or later and not later than five years  118  -    -    -   

 290  -    -    -   

Less: Future lease finance charges  17  -    -    -   

 273  -    -    -   

Lease liabilities provided for in financial 
statements:

Current  160  -    -    -   

Non-current  113  -    -    -   

Total Lease Liability  273  -    -    -   



80 ⏐ BRADKEN LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2005

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the period ended 30 June 2005 (continued)

BRADKEN LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2005⏐ 81

28 Commitments (continued)

The consolidated entity leases some vehicles under finance leases expiring from one to 5 years.  
At the end of the lease term the consolidated entity has the option to purchase the vehicles at the 
residual value.

CONSOLIDATED THE COMPANY

2005 2004 2005 2004

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Hire Purchase Payment Commitments

Hire Purchase commitments are payable:

Within one year  149  -    -    -   

One year or later and not later than five years  586  -    -    -   

 735  -    -    -   

Less: Future lease finance charges  116  -    -    -   

 619  -    -    -   

Lease liabilities provided for in financial 
statements:

Current  109  -    -    -   

Non-current  510  -    -    -   

Total Lease Liability  619  -    -    -   

The consolidated entity has acquired some production plant and equipment under hire purchase 
arrangements with a final payment in May 2010.

29 Contingent liabilities and contingent assets

 Contingent liabilities not considered remote

Details of contingent liabilities where the probability is not considered remote are set out below.

The directors are of the opinion that provisions are not required in respect of these matters, as 
it is not probable that a future sacrifice of economic benefits will be required or the amount is not 
capable of reliable measurement.

Product Warranty Claim
(i) A subsidiary of the Company is a party to a joint warranty claim pending relating to the supply 

of railway bogies in 2002 and 2003 to Queensland Rail; this claim was the subject of an ASX 
announcement, released dated 14/12/04.  The Directors believe, based on legal advice, that 
the 30 June 2005 Financial Report adequately reflects the impact of known and anticipated 
costs in respect of the claim.

 In the Director’s opinion disclosure of any further information about the above matter would be 
prejudicial to the interests of the consolidated entity.

(ii) During the normal course of business, the consolidated entity incurs normal contractors’ and 
product liability in relation to contracts which may include claims against the consolidated 
entity.  The consolidated entity provides for all known claims.  There are potential contractor or 
product liability claims that may arise in respect of contracts which, at the date of this report, are 
unknown and, as such, any outcome cannot be reliably determined.
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29 Contingent liabilities and contingent assets (continued)

CONSOLIDATED THE COMPANY

2005 2004 2005 2004

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Guarantees

Bank guarantees for contract performance  14,566  -    -    -   

Letters of credit  364  -    -    -   

Total estimated contingent liabilities  14,930  -    -    -   

Other than set out above there have been no material changes in contingent liabilities or contingent 
assets.

30 Deeds of cross guarantee

Pursuant to ASIC Class Order 98/1418 (as amended) dated 13 August 1998, the wholly-owned 
subsidiaries listed below are relieved from the Corporations Act 2001 requirements for preparation, 
audit, and lodgement of financial reports, and directors’ report.

It is a condition of the Class Order that the Company and each of the subsidiaries enter into a Deed 
of Cross Guarantee.

The effect of the Deed is that the Company guarantees to each creditor payment in full of any debt 
in the event of winding up of any of the subsidiaries under certain provisions of the Corporations Act 
2001. If a winding up occurs under other provisions of the Act 2001, the Company will only be liable 
in the event that after six months any creditor has not been paid in full. The subsidiaries have also 
given similar guarantees in the event that the Company is wound up.

The companies subject to the Deed are:

• Bradken Limited

• Bradken Holdings Limited

• Bradken SPV Pty Limited

• Bradken Operations Pty Limited

• Bradken Resources Pty Limited

All companies above became a party to the Deed on 12 May 2005.

The following entities are not a party to the Deed of Cross Guarantee:

• Bradken Finance Pty Limited

• Bradken Mining SPV Pty Limited

• ANI Chile Ingenieria Limitada

These parties are wholly owned entities controlled by Bradken Limited.

A consolidated statement of financial performance and consolidated statement of financial position, 
comprising the Company and controlled entities which are a party to the Deed, after eliminating all 
transactions between parties to the Deed of Cross Guarantee, at 30 June 2005 is set out on the 
following page:
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30 Deeds of cross guarantee (continued)

CONSOLIDATED

2005 2004

$’000 $’000

Summarised statement of financial performance and retained profits

Profit from ordinary activities before related income tax expense  20,278  -   

Income tax expense relating to ordinary activities  (6,233)  -   

Profit from ordinary activities after related income tax expense  14,045  -   

Profit/(loss) from extraordinary items after related income tax expense  -    -   

Net profit  14,045  -   

Retained profits at beginning of year  -    -   

Dividends recognised during the year  (5,220)  -   

Retained profits at end of year  8,825  -   

Statement of financial position

Current assets

Cash assets  1,126  -   

Receivables  66,207  -   

Inventories  75,171  -   

Other  1,127  -   

Total current assets  143,631  -   

Non-current assets

Receivables  814  -   

Other financial assets  260,000  -   

Property, plant and equipment  151,625  -   

Intangibles  165,170  -   

Deferred tax assets  11,113  -   

Other  4,013  -   

Total non-current assets  592,735  -   

Total assets  736,366  -   

Current liabilities

Payables  53,533  -   

Interest-bearing liabilities  7,269  -   

Current tax liabilities  6,508  -   

Provisions  20,925  -   

Other  36  -   

Total Current Liabilities  88,271  -   

Non-current liabilities

Interest-bearing liabilities  393,303  -   

Deferred tax liabilities  1,952  -   

Provisions  11,401  -   
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Total non-current liabilities  406,656  -   

Total liabilities  494,927  -   

Net assets  241,439  -   

Equity

Contributed equity  232,575  -   

Reserves  39  -   

Retained profits  8,825  -   

Total equity  241,439  -   

31 Controlled entities      

ORDINARY SHARE
CONSOLIDATED

EQUITY INTEREST

2005 2004

Note % %

(a) Particulars in relation to controlled entities

Name

Parent entity

Bradken Limited

Controlled entities

Bradken Holdings Limited (i)  100.0  -   

Bradken SPV Pty Limited (i)  100.0  -   

Bradken Operations Pty Limited (i)  100.0  -   

Bradken Resources Pty Limited (i)  100.0  -   

Bradken Finance Pty Limited  100.0  -   

Bradken Mining SPV Pty Limited  100.0  -   

ANI Chile Ingenieria Limitada (ii)  100.0  -   

(i) Refer to note 30 for details of Deed of Cross Guarantee.

(ii) This controlled entity carries on business in Chile.

 All other controlled entities were incorporated in Australia.

30 Deeds of cross guarantee (continued)

CONSOLIDATED

2005 2004

$’000 $’000
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31 Controlled entities (continued)

(b) Acquisition of businesses and entities

Businesses
A foundry business located in Western Australia, formerly known as Roche Castings Pty Ltd, 
was acquired on 31 March 2005.  The operating results from that date have been included in 
consolidated operating profit.  The cost comprised cash and details of the acquisition were as 
follows:

CONSOLIDATED THE COMPANY

2005 2004 2005 2004

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Consideration  28,188  -    -    -   

Cash acquired  -    -    -    -   

Outflow of cash  28,188  -    -    -   

Fair value of net assets acquired:

Property, plant and equipment  16,716  -    -    -   

Inventories  3,371  -    -    -   

Other assets  63  -    -    -   

Receivables  8,403  -    -    -   

Future Income Tax Benefit  326  -    -    -   

Payables  (4,156)  -    -    -   

Provisions  (1,085)  -    -    -   

Net assets acquired  23,638  -    -    -   

Goodwill on acquisition  4,550  -    -    -   

Consideration (cash)  28,188  -    -    -   

Entities
Following the raising of funds at the IPO on 20 August 2004 the consolidated entity purchased the 
Existing Group which owned the Bradken business as described in the prospectus dated 9 August 
2004. The businesses acquired were 100% of the voting shares of Bradken Holdings Ltd and 
28.1% of the voting shares of Bradken SPV Pty Ltd.  All businesses in the consolidated entity are 
100% owned by the consolidated entity.
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31 Controlled entities (continued)

(b) Acquisition of businesses and entities (continued)

CONSOLIDATED THE COMPANY

2005 2004 2005 2004

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Consideration (i)  232,052  -    -    -   

Cash acquired  3,133  -    -    -   

Share script issue  (40,355)  -    -    -   

Loan Repayment  (65,000)  -    -    -   

Transaction costs (i)  12,940  -    -    -   

Outflow of cash  142,770  -    -    -   

Fair value of net assets acquired:

Property, plant and equipment  131,500  -    -    -   

Cash  (15,953)  -    -    -   

Inventories  68,172  -    -    -   

Other assets  60,020  -    -    -   

Receivables  66,174  -    -    -   

Future Income Tax Benefit  11,325  -    -    -   

Payables  (45,804)  -    -    -   

Provisions  (46,843)  -    -    -   

Borrowings  (115,401)  -    -    -   

Net assets acquired  113,190  -    -    -   

Goodwill on acquisition  118,862  -    -    -   

Consideration (cash)  232,052  -    -    -   

(i)  Consideration for goodwill is nett of 
transaction costs.

Total consideration (equity raised)  244,992 

Less IPO transaction costs  (12,940)

Consideration (cash)  232,052 

32 Notes to the statements of cash flows

(a) Reconciliation of Cash

For the purposes of the statements of cash flows, cash includes cash on hand and in banks and 
investments in money market instruments, net of outstanding bank overdrafts.  Cash at the end 
of the period as shown in the statement of cash flows is reconciled to the related items in the 
statement of financial position as follows:



86 ⏐ BRADKEN LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2005

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the period ended 30 June 2005 (continued)

BRADKEN LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2005⏐ 87

32 Notes to the statements of cash flows (continued)

CONSOLIDATED THE COMPANY

2005 2004 2005 2004

Note $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Cash assets 10  1,157  -    -    -   

Bank overdraft 19  -    -    -    -   

 1,157  -    -    -   

(b) Reconciliation of profit from ordinary 
activities after related income tax to net 
cash flows from operating activities
Profit from ordinary activities after related income 
tax  14,141  -    5,220  -   

Add/(less) items classified as investing/financing 
activities:

(Profit)/loss on sale of non-current assets  9  -    -    -   

Add/(less) non-cash items:

Amortisation of intangibles  14,782  -    -    -   

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment  7,294  -    -    -   

Unrealised foreign exchange (gain)/loss  (33)  -    -    -   

Increase/(decrease) in current tax liability  (1,213)  -    (1,247)  -   

Increase/(decrease) in deferred tax liability  233  -    233  -   

(Increase)/decrease in deferred tax asset  538  -    541  -   

Net cash provided by operating activities before 
change in assets and liabilities  35,751  -    4,747  -   

Change in assets and liabilities adjusted for 
effects of purchase and disposal of controlled 
entities during the financial year:

(Increase)/decrease in trade debtors  6,796  -    -    -   

(Increase)/decrease in inventories  (3,648)  -    -    -   

(Increase)/decrease in prepayments  506  -    -    -   

(Increase)/decrease in other non-current 
assets  (3,210)  -    -    -   

(Increase)/decrease in other non-current 
financial assets  -    -    (4,747)  -   

(Increase)/decrease in non-current receivables  33  -    -    -   

(Decrease)/increase in accounts payable  950  -    -    -   

(Decrease)/increase in provisions  (3,631)  -    -    -   

(Decrease)/increase in other current liabilities  (100)  -    -    -   

Net cash provided by/(used in) operating 
activities  33,447  -    -    -   
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33 Employee benefits

CONSOLIDATED THE COMPANY

2005 2004 2005 2004

Note $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Aggregate liability for employee 
benefits, including on-costs

Current

Employee benefits provision 20  14,683  -    -    -   

Non Current

Employee benefits provision 20  8,899  -    -    -   

 23,582  -    -    -   

The present values of employee entitlements not expected to be settled within twelve months of 
reporting date have been calculated using the following weighted averages:

CONSOLIDATED THE COMPANY

2005 2004 2005 2004

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Assumed rate of increase in wage and 
salary rates 4.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0%

Discount rate 5.1% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0%

Settlement term (years)  15  -    -    -   

Number of employees

Number of employees at year end  2,619  -    -    -   

Equity-based plans

Employee Share Acquisition Plan
The Company has an Employee Share Acquisition Plan (ESAP) which was approved at a members 
meeting on 22 April 2004. The ESAP is a general employee share plan pursuant to which employees 
of the Company or any of its subsidiaries may participate, at the invitation of the Board, in the 
acquisition of shares on terms and conditions determined by the Board. Shares issued under ESAP 
rank equally with other fully paid ordinary shares.

In accordance with current Australian Tax legislation in order to allow employees to make an election 
to seek an exemption from tax in relation to shares acquired under the ESAP, shares acquired under 
the ESAP must be held in the ESAP for a minimum of three years (or earlier cessation of relevant 
employment). During that time, the shares are subject to a disposal restriction such that the 
participant cannot deal in (i.e. sell or transfer) the shares.

Further, an employee participating in the ESAP cannot forfeit shares allocated by the Company in 
any circumstances. The Board has the discretion to determine the specific terms and conditions 
applying to each offer.
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33 Employee benefits (continued)

Summary of share issues in the plan:

Grant date
Number of 

shares
Fair value 
per share

29 October 2004  270,400 $3.08

There were no other shares eligible for issuance under the scheme at 30 June 2005.

Solely at the discretion of the Board, similar allocations may be made in subsequent years, subject to 
the performance of the Company.

In general, it is intended that for any future invitation, all permanent full-time and permanent part-
time employees of Bradken having completed a minimum length of service specified by the Board (or 
other individuals nominated by the Board) will be eligible to subscribe for, or acquire, shares under 
the ESAP on the terms and conditions determined by the Board. Directors who participate in the 
Non-Executive Director Share Acquisition Plan or the Performance Rights Plan are not currently 
eligible to participate in offers under the ESAP.

The Company has a Performance Rights Plan (PRP) which was approved at a members meeting 
on 22 April 2004. The PRP is the Company’s long-term incentive scheme for selected key senior 
executives. Under the PRP, eligible executives may be granted Performance Rights (each being a 
right to acquire a share, subject to the satisfaction of exercise conditions) on terms and conditions 
determined by the Board. If the exercise conditions are satisfied, the Performance Rights may be 
exercised and the shares delivered to the executive. The Board may impose restrictions on the 
disposal of the shares and implement procedures to enforce the restrictions.

The rules of the PRP provide that the Board may determine a price that is payable to exercise a 
Performance Right, or that no amount is payable by the executive upon exercise of the Right.

Shares will immediately be allocated on exercise of a performance right. Performance Rights may 
only be exercised following satisfaction of performance conditions, unless the Board determines an 
event (such as a takeover bid) has occurred.

Under the initial grant, Performance Rights are granted at no cost to the executive. In relation to 
future grants, the Board may impose performance conditions that reflect the Company’s business 
plans, targets, budgets and its performance relative to peer groups of companies.

If any additional persons become entitled to participate in the PRP and their participation requires 
approval under Chapter 10 of the Listing Rules, they will not participate in the PRP until shareholder 
approval is received pursuant to Listing Rule 10.14. Mr Brian Hodges, being the only Executive 
Director of the Company, is the only Director entitled to participate in the PRP. If any other Director 
is to participate in the PRP, the Company would seek shareholder approval as required by the Listing 
Rules.
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33 Employee benefits (continued)

Summary of Rights issues in the plan:

Grant date
Number of 

rights
Fair value 
per right

8 August 2004  91,667 1.57

30 June 2005  174,749 1.41

There were no other Rights eligible for issuance under the scheme at 30 June 2005.

Non-Executive Director Share Acquisition Plan
The Company has a Non-Executive Director Share Acquisition Plan (NED Plan) which was approved 
at a members meeting on 22 April 2004. All current and future Non-Executive Directors will be 
required to have a percentage of their annual Directors’ fees provided in shares under the NED Plan. 
Shares will be allocated to the Non-Executive Directors under the NED Plan and must be held for a 
specified period.

Non-Executive Directors are required to have at least 25% (or such other minimum percentage 
determined by the Board from time to time) of their annual Directors’ fees (including Board 
committee fees) provided as shares under the NED Plan. The Company may provide Non-Executive 
Directors with more than 25% of their fees, up to a maximum of 90%, in any year in shares under 
the NED Plan.

Non-Executive Directors will not be able to sell or otherwise dispose of the shares until the earliest 
of 10 years after acquisition or the Non-Executive Director ceasing to be a director of the Company 
(except in very limited circumstances). During this period the shares will be subject to a holding lock.

Shares will be issued as new shares and the number of shares allocated will be determined on the 
basis of the weighted average price of Shares on ASX on the five trading days up to and including the 
allocation date to satisfy the allocation.

The appropriate number of shares are issued on a semi-annual basis. In general, the allocation date 
will be the day following the end of the relevant fee period.  As the first relevant fee period was the six 
months ended 30 June 2005 there were no grants of shares under the plan for the period ended 
30 June 2005.
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34 Director and executive disclosures for disclosing entities

Equity instruments

All Rights refer to Rights over ordinary shares of Bradken Limited, which are exercisable on a one-
for-one basis under the Performance Rights plan.

Rights over equity instruments granted as remuneration
The movement during the reporting period in the number of Rights over ordinary shares in Bradken 
Limited held, directly, indirectly or beneficially, by each specified director and specified executive, 

including their personally-related entities, is as follows:

Held at
14 April 

2004
Granted as 

remuneration Exercised
Other 

changes*

Held at
30 June 

2005

Vested 
during 

the year

Vested and 
exercisable 

at
30 June 

2005

Specified directors

Mr BW Hodges  -    91,667  -    -    91,667  -    -   

Specified executives

Mr A Poole  -    26,583  -    -    26,583  -    -   

Mr S Burraston  -    25,087  -    -    25,087  -    -   

Mr E Sheridan  -    24,490  -    -    24,490  -    -   

Mr A Allen  -    24,499  -    -    24,499  -    -   

Mr B Ward  -    19,288  -    -    19,288  -    -   

All Rights granted in the current year were granted by 30 June 2005, have a performance period 3 
years from that date and an exercise price of nil per share. No Rights have been granted since the 
end of the financial year. The Rights were provided at no cost to the recipients.

No Rights held by specified directors or specified executives are vested but not exercisable.

*Other changes represent Rights that expired or were forfeited during the year.

All Rights expire on the earlier of their exercise, the death or resignation of the Executive, if they fail 
to meet Exercise conditions, the end of the performance period, or ten years. Details of the exercise 
conditions and performance criteria are included in the remuneration policy discussion on page 40. 
For Rights granted in the current year, the earliest exercise date is 24th August 2005.

Further details, including grant dates and exercise dates regarding Rights granted to executives 
under the Performance Rights plan are in Note 33.
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34 Director and executive disclosures for disclosing entities (continued)

The movement during the reporting period in the number of ordinary shares of Bradken Limited held, 
directly, indirectly or beneficially, by each specified director and specified executive, including their 
personally-related entities is as follows:

Held at
14 April 

2004 Purchases

Received 
on exercise 

of Rights Sales

Held at
30 June 

2005

Specified directors

Mr NFH Greiner  -    227,491  -    -    227,491 

Mr PJ Arnall  -    690,135  -    -    690,135 

Mr VJ O’Rourke  -    12,500  -    -    12,500 

MR GR Laurie  -    -    -    -    -   

Mr BW Hodges  -    2,623,723  -    -    2,623,723 

Specified executives

Mr A Poole  -    1,263,402  -    -    1,263,402 

Mr S Burraston  -    208,333  -    -    208,333 

Mr E Sheridan  -    418,357  -    -    418,357 

Mr A Allen  -    292,142  -    -    292,142 

Mr B Ward  -    10,416  -    -    10,416 

35 Non-director related parties

The classes of non-director related parties are:

• wholly-owned controlled entities

• directors of related parties and their director-related entities.

CONSOLIDATED THE COMPANY

2005 2004 2005 2004

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

The aggregate amounts included in the profit 
from ordinary activities before income tax that 
resulted from transactions with non-director 
related parties are:

Dividend revenue

Wholly-owned controlled entities  -    -    5,220  -   

Aggregate amounts receivable from non-director 
related parties

Amounts receivable other than trade debts

Non-current

Wholly-owned controlled entities  -    -    57,687  -   
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35  Non-director related parties 
(continued)

Transactions

Tax
Bradken Resources Pty Ltd makes all tax 
payments on behalf of Bradken Limited 
which is the head entity of the Australian tax 
consolidated group.  A tax funding agreement 
is in place, refer Note 1(h).

Loan Accounts
Loan accounts are maintained for all 
Australian companies within the consolidated 
group as transactions are not settled in cash.  
These loan balances are non-interest bearing 
and have no fixed repayment period.

All other transactions between companies 
within the group are done on an arm’s length 
basis.

Directors of related parties (not being 
directors of the entity or their 
director-related entities) 

From time to time, directors of related 
parties or their director-related entities may 
purchase goods from the consolidated entity. 
These purchases are on the same terms 
and conditions as those entered into by 
consolidated entity employees or customers 
and are trivial or domestic in nature.

36  Impact of adopting Australian 
equivalents to International Financial 
Reporting Standards

For reporting periods beginning on or after 
1 January 2005, the consolidated entity 
must comply with Australian equivalents to 
International Financial Reporting Standards 
(AIFRS) as issued by the Australian 
Accounting Standards Board.

This financial report has been prepared 
in accordance with Australian accounting 
standards and other financial reporting 
requirements (Australian GAAP) applicable 
for reporting periods ended 30 June 2005.

As at 14 April 2004 Bradken Limited was 
a non trading entity and as a result the 
transition to AIFRS has no impact on the 
Statement of Financial Position at that date.

Transition management

The board has established a formal 
implementation project, monitored by a 
steering committee, to assess the impact of 
transition to AIFRS and to achieve compliance 
with AIFRS reporting for the financial period 
commencing on or after 1 July 2005.

The project is achieving its scheduled 
milestones and the consolidated entity is 
expected to be in a position to fully comply 
with the requirements of AIFRS for the half 
year ending 31 December 2005 and the full 
year ending 30 June 2006.

Assessment and planning phase
The assessment and planning phase 
generated a high level overview of the impacts 
of conversion to AIFRS on existing accounting 
and reporting policies and procedures, 
systems and processes, business structures 
and staff. This phase included:

• high level identification of the key 
differences in accounting policies and 
disclosures that are expected to arise 
from adopting AIFRS

• assessment of new information 
requirements affecting management 
information systems, as well as the impact 
on the business and its key processes

• evaluation of the implications for staff, for 
example training requirements, and

• preparation of a conversion plan for 
expected changes to accounting policies, 
reporting structures, systems, accounting 
and business processes and staff training.

The assessment and planning phase is 
complete as at 30 June 2005.



94 ⏐ BRADKEN LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2005

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the period ended 30 June 2005 (continued)

BRADKEN LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2005⏐ 95

36  Impact of adopting Australian 
equivalents to International Financial 
Reporting Standards (continued)

Design phase
The design phase formulated the changes 
required to existing accounting policies and 
procedures and systems and processes 
in order to transition to AIFRS. The design 
phase included various project teams working 
on areas such as treasury operations, 
application of impairment requirements and 
transitional elections.

The design phase incorporated:

• formulation of revised accounting policies 
and procedures for compliance with AIFRS 
requirements

• identification of potential financial 
impacts as at the transition date and for 
subsequent reporting periods prior to 
adoption of AIFRS

• development of revised AIFRS disclosures

• formulation of accounting and business 
processes to support AIFRS reporting 
obligations

• identification of required changes to 
financial reporting and business source 
systems, and

• development of training programs for 
staff.

The design phase is complete as at 30 June 
2005.

Implementation phase
The implementation phase includes 
implementation of identified changes to 
accounting and business procedures, 
processes and systems and operational 
training for staff and enables the consolidated 
entity to generate the required reconciliations 
and disclosures of AASB 1 First Time 
Adoption of Australian Equivalents to 
International Financial Reporting Standards.

This phase is substantially complete as at 30 
June 2005.

Impact of transition to AIFRS
The impact of transition to AIFRS and 
the selection and application of AIFRS 
accounting policies, are based on AIFRS 
standards that management expect to be 
in place, or where applicable, early adopted, 
when preparing the first complete AIFRS 
financial report (being the half-year ending 
31 December 2005). Only a complete set 
of financial statements and notes together 
with comparative balances can provide a 
true and fair presentation of the Company’s 
and consolidated entity’s financial position, 
results of operations and cash flows in 
accordance with AIFRS. This note provides 
only a summary, therefore, further disclosure 
and explanations will be required in the first 
complete AIFRS financial report for a true and 
fair view to be presented under AIFRS.

There is a significant amount of judgement 
involved in the preparation of the 
reconciliations from current Australian GAAP 
to AIFRS, consequently the adjustments in the 
first financial report prepared in accordance 
with AIFRS may vary materially from the 
expected adjustments provided in this Note.

Revisions to the selection and application 
of the AIFRS accounting policies may be 
required as a result of:

• changes in financial reporting 
requirements that are relevant to the 
Company’s and consolidated entity’s first 
complete AIFRS financial report arising 
from new or revised accounting standards 
or interpretations issued by the Australian 
Accounting Standards Board subsequent 
to the preparation of the 30 June 2005 
financial report

• additional guidance on the application 
of AIFRS in a particular industry or to a 
particular transaction

• changes to the Company’s and 
consolidated entity’s operations.



94 ⏐ BRADKEN LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2005

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the period ended 30 June 2005 (continued)

BRADKEN LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2005⏐ 95

Where the application or interpretation of 
an accounting standard is currently being 
debated, the accounting policy adopted 
reflects management’s current assessment 
of the likely outcome of those deliberations.

The rules for first time adoption of AIFRS 
are set out in AASB 1 First Time Adoption 
of Australian Equivalents to International 
Financial Reporting Standards. In general, 
AIFRS accounting policies must be applied 
retrospectively to determine the opening 
AIFRS balance sheet as at transition date, 
being 14 April 2004. The Standard allows 
a number of exemptions to this general 
principle to assist in the transition to 
reporting under AIFRS. The accounting 
policies note includes details of the AASB 1 
elections adopted.

The significant changes in accounting policies 
expected to be adopted in preparing the 
AIFRS reconciliations are set out below.

(a) Reverse Acquisition
Under current AGAAP the acquisition of 
the Bradken Holdings Pty Limited Group 
by Bradken Limited on 20 August 2004 
was recognised in the consolidated entity 
at cost, being the fair value of the assets 
acquired.  This resulted in an increase in 
the value of Licences, Land, Buildings and 
Goodwill recognised in the Bradken Limited 
Consolidated Statement of Financial Position 
compared to the carrying amounts previously 
recognised by the Bradken Holdings Group.  

The structure of the acquisition was such 
that Bradken Limited was incorporated 
to issue equity instruments in order to 
effect a business combination and as such 
AASB3 paragraph 22 applies and treats 
the transaction as a reverse acquisition.  
As a result the uplift in fair value of assets 
recognised in the consolidated Statement of 
Financial Position under AGAAP will not be 
available.

For the consolidated entity it is expected that 
as at 30 June 2005 the value of the Licences 
will decrease by $22,944,000, Land and 
Buildings will decrease by $18,756,000 and 
Goodwill will decrease by $102,005,000. No 

adjustments are expected for the company. 
This will be offset by a reduction in equity of 
$165,622,000 and an increase in retained 
earnings of $21,917,000. In addition, 
Amortisation and Depreciation for the period 
end 30 June 2005 is expected to decrease 
by $4,766,000 and $114,000 respectively. 

(b) Leased assets
Classification
At the date for transition to AIFRS leases will 
be classified as operating leases or finance 
leases on the basis of circumstance existing 
at inception of the lease. Under Australian 
GAAP certain leases were classified as 
operating leases, in accordance with 
prescribed quantitative measures, however 
are classified as finance leases under AIFRS.

For the consolidated entity, the change in 
classification is expected to result in an 
increase in property, plant and equipment of 
$5,711,000, an increase in interest bearing 
loans and borrowings of $6,057,000, and a 
decrease of $286,000 in Retained Earnings 
at 30 June 2005 . Amortisation is expected 
to increase by $2,503,000 and Borrowing 
costs  are expected to increase by $469,000 
for the financial period ended 30 June 2005.

This will be offset by a decrease in Cost of 
sales, Selling and Technical expenses and 
Administration expenses of $1,671,000, 
$869,000 and $389,000 respectively for 
the financial period ended 30 June 2005. 
Net profit before tax is expected to increase 
by $43,000 for the period ended 30 June 
2005.

No adjustments are expected for the 
Company.
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36  Impact of adopting Australian 
equivalents to International Financial 
Reporting Standards (continued)

(c) Intangible assets
Goodwill
Goodwill represents the difference between 
the cost of a business combination over 
the net fair value of the identifiable assets, 
liabilities and contingent liabilities acquired.

In respect of acquisitions prior to 
transition date, goodwill is expected to be 
included on the basis of its deemed cost, 
which represents the amount recorded 
under Australian GAAP, adjusted for 
reclassifications of other intangible assets 
not meeting the AIFRS recognition criteria 
and for reclassifications of other assets 
such as deferred tax assets that would be 
recognised under AIFRS recognition criteria. 
No reclassifications are expected.

Goodwill will be stated at cost less any 
accumulated impairment losses. Goodwill 
will be allocated to cash generating units and 
tested annually for impairment (refer (d) for 
further details on impairment testing).

Negative goodwill arising on acquisition will be 
recognised directly in profit and loss unless it 
is deemed to be a transaction with owners. 
Under current Australian GAAP negative 
goodwill is allocated to the non-monetary 
assets acquired. As business combinations 
have not been restated there is no expected 
impact of this change in treatment on 
transition.

Amortisation
Amortisation will be recognised on a straight-
line basis over the estimated useful lives of 
the intangible assets, unless such lives are 
indefinite. Goodwill and intangible assets with 
an indefinite useful life will not be subject to 
amortisation but tested for impairment when 
impairment indicators are present, but at 
least annually. Other intangible assets will be 
amortised from the date they are available 
for use. Changes in useful life on transition to 
AIFRS will be accounted for prospectively. The 
estimated useful lives are expected to be as 
follows:

AIFRS
Current 
AGAAP

Licences life life

Goodwill indefinite 20 years

The impact on the results for the period 
ended 30 June 2005 is expected to be an 
increase of $5,205,000 from the reversal of 
the goodwill amortisation for the consolidated 
entity. No adjustments are expected for the 
Company.

(d) Impairment
Under current Australian GAAP the carrying 
amounts of non-current assets valued on a 
cost basis are reviewed at reporting date to 
determine whether they are in excess of their 
recoverable amount. If the carrying amount of 
a non-current asset exceeds its recoverable 
amount the asset is written down to the lower 
amount, with the write-down recognised in 
the income statement in the period in which 
it occurs. Where a group of assets working 
together supports the generation of cash 
inflows, recoverable amount is assessed in 
relation to that group of assets. In assessing 
recoverable amounts, the relevant cash flows 
have not been discounted to their present 
value.

Under current Australian GAAP the 
collectibility of receivables is assessed at 
each reporting date and a provision is raised 
based on the age of the outstanding overdue 
balance to allow for doubtful accounts.

Under AIFRS, the carrying amount of the 
consolidated entity’s non-current assets, 
excluding investment property, defined benefit 
assets, deferred tax assets, goodwill and 
indefinite life intangible assets will be reviewed 
at each reporting date to determine whether 
there is any indication of impairment. If any 
such indication exists, the asset will be tested 
for impairment by comparing its recoverable 
amount to its carrying amount.

Goodwill, which is not amortised under AIFRS 
(refer (c)), intangible assets that have an 
indefinite useful life and intangible assets not 
yet ready for use are tested for impairment, 
when impairment indicators are present, but 
at least annually.
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If there is any indication that an asset is 
impaired (or for those tested annually), the 
recoverable amount will be estimated for the 
individual asset. If it is not possible to estimate 
the recoverable amount for the individual 
asset, the recoverable amount of the cash 
generating unit to which the asset belongs will 
be determined.

A cash generating unit will be the smallest 
identifiable group of assets that generate 
cash inflows largely independent of the cash 
inflows of other assets or group of assets, 
each cash-generating unit must be no larger 
than a segment.

An impairment loss will be recognised 
whenever the carrying amount of an asset, 
or its cash generating unit exceeds its 
recoverable amount. Impairment losses 
will be recognised in the income statement 
unless they relate to a revalued asset, where 
the impairment loss will be treated in the 
same way as a revaluation decrease.

Impairment losses recognised in respect of a 
cash generating unit will be allocated first to 
reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill 
allocated to the cash generating unit and then 
to reduce the carrying amount of the other 
assets in the unit pro rata based on their 
carrying amounts.

Goodwill and indefinite life intangible assets 
will be tested for impairment as at transition 
date. No adjustments are expected for the 
consolidated entity or the company.

Reversals of impairment
Under current Australian GAAP impairment 
losses have not been reversed.

Under AIFRS an impairment loss in respect 
of goodwill must not be reversed. In respect 
of other assets, an impairment loss will be 
reversed if there has been a change in the 
estimates used to determine the recoverable 
amount. An impairment loss will be reversed 
only to the extent that the asset’s carrying 
amount does not exceed the carrying amount 
that would have been determined, net of 
depreciation or amortisation, if no impairment 
loss had been recognised.

There is no expected impact of this change in 
treatment on transition.

(e) Taxation
On transition to AIFRS the balance sheet 
method of tax effect accounting will be 
adopted, rather than the liability method 
applied currently under Australian GAAP.

Under the balance sheet approach, income 
tax on the profit and loss for the period 
comprises current and deferred taxes. 
Income tax will be recognised in the income 
statement except to the extent that it relates 
to items recognised directly in equity, in which 
case it will be recognised in equity.

Current tax is the expected tax payable on the 
taxable income for the period, using tax rates 
enacted or substantively enacted at reporting 
date, and any adjustments to tax payable in 
respect of previous periods.

Deferred tax is provided using the balance 
sheet method, providing for temporary 
differences between the carrying amount of 
assets and liabilities for financial reporting 
purposes and the amounts used for 
taxation purposes. The following temporary 
differences will not be provided for: goodwill 
for which amortisation is not tax deductible, 
the initial recognition of assets and liabilities 
that affect neither accounting or taxable 
profit, and differences relating to investments 
in subsidiaries to the extent that they will 
probably not reverse in the foreseeable 
future. The amount of deferred tax provided 
will be based on the expected manner 
of realisation of the asset or settlement 
of the liability, using tax rates enacted or 
substantively enacted at reporting date.

A deferred tax asset will be recognised only 
to the extent that it is probable that future 
taxable profits will be available against which 
the asset can be utilised. Deferred tax assets 
will be reduced to the extent it is no longer 
probable that the related tax benefit will be 
realised.
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36  Impact of adopting Australian 
equivalents to International Financial 
Reporting Standards (continued)

The expected impact of the change in basis 
on the tax expense for the financial period 
ended 30 June 2005 is a decrease in tax 
expense by $5,107,000 for the consolidated 
entity and NIL for the Company. Deferred 
tax assets and deferred tax liabilities of the 
consolidated entity are expected to increase 
by $6,969,000 and $366,000 respectively 
as at 30 June 2005. The expected impact 
of the changes on the Company is still being 
assessed under UIG1052.

Tax consolidation
The UIG has been deliberating the recognition 
of tax amounts under the tax consolidation 
regime in the AIFRS framework. It has 
proposed that wholly owned subsidiaries in 
the tax consolidated group will be required 
to recognise their own tax balances directly, 
and the current tax liability and tax losses will 
be assumed by the head entity via an equity 
contribution or distribution. The Interpretation 
has now been finalised by the UIG (UIG 1052) 
and the Company is yet to quantify specific 
impacts.

(f) Employee benefits
Share based payments
Employee Gift Offer

Under current Australian GAAP no expense 
is recognized for shares issued to employees 
under an Employee Gift Offer.

Under AIFRS, the fair value of the Gift Offer 
must be recognised as an employee benefit 
expense with a corresponding increase in 
equity. The fair value will be measured at 
grant date at the closing market price on 
that date. For the financial period ended 
30 June 2005, Administration expense 
and contributed equity are expected to be 
increased by $833,000 in the Consolidated 
Entity and $833,000 in the Company 
representing the employee benefit expense 
associated with the Employee Gift Offer for 
the period.

Performance Rights Plan

Under current Australian GAAP no expense is 
recognized for Performance Rights or Rights 
issued to employees.

Under AIFRS, the fair value of Rights granted 
must be recognized as an employee benefit 
expense with a corresponding increase 
in equity. The fair value will be measured 
at grant date taking into account market 
performance conditions only, and spread over 
the vesting period during which the employees 
become unconditionally entitled to the Rights. 
The fair value of Rights granted will be 
measured using the Black & Scholes Pricing 
Model, taking into account the terms and 
conditions attached to the Rights. The amount 
recognized as an expense will be adjusted 
to reflect the actual number of Rights that 
vest except where forfeiture is due to market 
related conditions.

For the financial period ended 30 June 2005, 
administration expense and contributed equity 
are expected to be increased by $130,000 in 
the Consolidated Entity and $130,000 in the 
Company representing the employee benefit 
expense associated with the Performance 
Rights Plan for the period.

Non-Executive Director Share Acquisition Plan

Under current Australian GAAP an expense is 
recognized for shares issued under the Non-
Executive Director Share Acquisition Plan.

Under AIFRS, the fair value of shares 
issued under the Non-Executive Director 
Share Acquisition Plan must be recognized 
as an employee benefit expense with a 
corresponding increase in equity. The fair 
value will be measured at grant date.

As total Director’s remuneration (including 
the fair value of the shares) has already been 
expensed, for the financial period ended 
30 June 2005, Director’s expense and 
retained earnings will not be effected in the 
Consolidated Entity and in the Company.
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(g) Borrowing costs
Current Australian GAAP requires borrowing 
costs relating to qualifying assets to be 
capitalised as part of the cost of the asset.

Under AIFRS borrowing costs may either 
be recognised as an expense in the period 
in which they are incurred, or where they 
are directly attributable to the acquisition, 
construction or production of a qualifying 
asset they may be capitalised as part of the 
cost of the asset.

Bradken Limited expects to apply the allowed 
alternative treatment under AASB 123 and 
therefore will continue to capitalise borrowing 
costs where they are directly attributable to 
the acquisition, construction or production of 
a qualifying asset.

There is no expected impact on either the 
Company or the consolidated entity in relation 
to this choice of AIFRS accounting policy as 
there is no expected change from the current 
policy under Australian GAAP.

(h) Financial instruments / insurance 
contracts
Bradken Limited expects to take advantage 
of the election in AASB 1 to not restate 
comparatives for AASB 132 Financial 
Instruments: Disclosure and Presentation, 
AASB 139 Financial Instruments: Recognition 
and Measurement. There are no expected 
adjustments in relation to these standards for 
14 April 2004 or the financial period ended 
30 June 2005 as current Australian GAAP is 
expected to continue to apply.

The entity has followed Australian GAAP in 
accounting for financial instruments within 
the scope of AASB 132 and AASB 139 as 
described in Note 1 Statement of significant 
accounting policies.

Impact of change in accounting policy on prior 
periods

The nature of the main adjustments to the 
transitional AIFRS balance sheet as at 14 
April 2004 and the statement of financial 
performance for the financial period ended 
30 June 2005 to achieve full compliance 
with AIFRS had accounting standards AASB 

132 Financial Instruments: Disclosure 
and Presentation, AASB 139 Financial 
Instruments: Recognition and Measurement, 
been applied from 14 April 2004 are 
expected be recognition of all derivatives 
on the balance sheet at fair value and the 
recognition of the movement in the fair value 
of derivatives through profit and loss.

37 Events subsequent to reporting date

Issue of shares under Employee Share Gift 
Offer
On 27 June 2005 Bradken announced its 
New Zealand Employee Share Gift Offer under 
which each eligible New Zealand employee 
was entitled to approximately A$500 of 
shares at no cost to the employee, based 
on an issue price of A$2.40 per share as 
foreshadowed in the prospectus lodged with 
the Australian Securities and Investments 
Commission on 9 August 2004. It was 
announced on 19 July 2005 that thirty 
one New Zealand employees will each be 
issued 208 ordinary shares resulting in an 
aggregate of 6,448 new ordinary shares to 
be issued.  These shares will rank equally with 
existing fully paid ordinary shares.

The financial effects of the above transaction 
have not been brought to account in the 
financial statements for the year ended 30 
June 2005.

Dividends
For dividends declared after 30 June 2005 
see note 25.

International Financial Reporting 
Standards
For reporting periods beginning on or after 
1 January 2005 the consolidated entity 
must comply with Australian equivalents 
to International Financial Reporting 
Standards (AIFRS) as issued by the 
Australian Accounting Standards Board. The 
implementation plan and potential impact of 
adopting AIFRS are detailed in Note 36 to the 
financial statements.
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In the directors’ opinion:

(a) the financial statements and notes set out on pages 48 to 100 are in accordance with the 
Corporations Act 2001, including: 

 (i)  complying with Accounting Standards, the Corporations Regulations 2001 and other mandatory 
professional reporting requirements; and

 (ii)  giving a true and fair view of the company’s and consolidated entity’s financial position as at 30 
June 2005 and of their performance, as represented by the results of their operations and their 
cash flows, for the financial year ended on that date; and

(b) there are reasonable grounds to believe that the company will be able to pay its debts as and when 
they become due and payable; and

(c) the remuneration disclosures set out on pages 38 to 46 the directors’ report comply with Accounting 
Standard AASB 1046 Director and Executive Disclosures by Disclosing Entities and the Corporations 
Regulations 2001; and

(d) at the date of this declaration, there are reasonable grounds to believe that the members of the 
Extended Closed Group identified in Note 30 will be able to meet any obligations or liabilities to which 
they are, or may become, subject by virtue of the deed of cross guarantee described in Note 30.

The directors have been given the declarations by the chief executive officer and chief financial officer 
required by section 295A of the Corporations Act 2001.

This declaration is made in accordance with a resolution of the directors:

NFH Greiner
Chairman

BW Hodges
Managing Director

Newcastle
9 September 2005
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To the members of Bradken Limited

In our opinion:

1. the financial report of Bradken Limited:

•  gives a true and fair view, as required by the Corporations Act 2001 in Australia, of the financial 
position of Bradken Limited and the Bradken Group (defined below) as at 30 June 2005, and of their 
performance for the period ended on that date,

•  is presented in accordance with the Corporations Act 2001, Accounting Standards and other 
mandatory financial reporting requirements in Australia, and the Corporations Regulations 2001; and 

2. the remuneration disclosures that are contained in pages 38 to 46 of the directors’ report comply 
with Accounting Standard AASB 1046 Director and Executive Disclosures by Disclosing Entities (AASB 
1046) and the Corporations Regulations 2001.

This opinion must be read in conjunction with the rest of our audit report.

Scope 

The financial report, remuneration disclosures  and directors’ responsibility
The financial report comprises the statement of financial position, statement of financial performance, 
statement of cash flows, accompanying notes to the financial statements, and the directors’ declaration 
for both Bradken Limited (the company) and the Bradken Group (the consolidated entity), for the period 
ended 30 June 2005. The consolidated entity comprises both the company and the entities it controlled 
during that period.

The company has disclosed information about the remuneration of directors and executives 
(remuneration disclosures) as required by AASB 1046, under the heading “remuneration report” on 
pages 38 to 46 of the directors’ report, as permitted by the Corporations Regulations 2001.

The directors of the company are responsible for the preparation and true and fair presentation of 
the financial report in accordance with the Corporations Act 2001. This includes responsibility for the 
maintenance of adequate accounting records and internal controls that are designed to prevent and 
detect fraud and error, and for the accounting policies and accounting estimates inherent in the financial 
report.  The directors are also responsible for the remuneration disclosures contained in the directors’ 
report.

Independent Audit Report
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Audit approach

We conducted an independent audit in order to express an opinion to the members of the company. Our 
audit was conducted in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards, in order to provide reasonable 
assurance as to whether the financial report is free of material misstatement and the remuneration 
disclosures comply with AASB 1046 and the Corporations Regulations 2001. The nature of an audit is 
influenced by factors such as the use of professional judgement, selective testing, the inherent limitations 
of internal control, and the availability of persuasive rather than conclusive evidence. Therefore, an audit 
cannot guarantee that all material misstatements have been detected. For further explanation of an audit, 
visit our website http://www.pwc.com/au/financialstatementaudit.

We performed procedures to assess whether in all material respects the financial report presents fairly, 
in accordance with the Corporations Act 2001, Accounting Standards and other mandatory financial 
reporting requirements in Australia, a view which is consistent with our understanding of the company’s 
and the consolidated entity’s financial position, and of their performance as represented by the results of 
their operations and cash flows.  We also performed procedures to assess whether the remuneration 
disclosures comply with AASB 1046 and the Corporations Regulations 2001. 

We formed our audit opinion on the basis of these procedures, which included:

• examining, on a test basis, information to provide evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in 
the financial report and remuneration disclosures, and

• assessing the appropriateness of the accounting policies and disclosures used and the 
reasonableness of significant accounting estimates made by the directors.

Our procedures include reading the other information in the Annual Report to determine whether it 
contains any material inconsistencies with the financial report.

While we considered the effectiveness of management’s internal controls over financial reporting when 
determining the nature and extent of our procedures, our audit was not designed to provide assurance on 
internal controls.

Our audit did not involve an analysis of the prudence of business decisions made by directors or 
management.

Independence

In conducting our audit, we followed applicable independence requirements of Australian professional 
ethical pronouncements and the Corporations Act 2001.

D A Turner Newcastle
Partner 9 September 2005
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Additional information required by the Australian Stock Exchange Limited Listing Rules and not disclosed 
elsewhere in this report is set out below.

Shareholdings (as at 31 August 2005)

Substantial shareholders

The number of shares held by substantial shareholders and their associates are set out below:

Shareholder 
Number of 

ordinary shares

Fidelity Group 15,112,410

Promina Group Ltd 7,965,387

Goldman Sachs (USA) & JB Were 6,859,404

AMP Limited 5,572,672

Australian Foundation Investment Company Limited 5,265,000

Voting rights

Ordinary shares
Refer to Note 22.

Rights
Refer to Note 33.

Distribution of equity security holders

NUMBER 
OF EQUITY 
SECURITY 
HOLDERS

Category
Ordinary

shares

1 – 1,000 1,526

1,001 – 5,000 945

5,001 – 10,000 578

10,000 – 100,000 496

100,000 and over 50

3,595

The number of shareholders holding less than a marketable parcel of ordinary shares is 16.

On-market buy-back

There is no current on-market buy-back.

 

ASX ADDITIONAL INFORMATION
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Twenty largest shareholders

Name
Number of ordinary 

shares held
Percentage of 

capital held

J P Morgan Nominees Australia Limited  15,776,598 15.4%

National Nominees Limited  13,515,118 13.2%

RBC Global Services Australia Nominees Pty Limited  7,329,823 7.1%

Westpac Custodian Nominees Limited  6,602,384 6.4%

ANZ Nominees Limited  6,207,073 6.0%

Australian Foundation Investment Company Limited  5,265,000 5.1%

Tasman Asset Management Ltd  4,037,125 3.9%

Queensland Investment Corporation  2,873,951 2.8%

Cogent Nominees Pty Ltd  2,748,615 2.7%

Mr Brian Hodges  2,623,723 2.6%

Promina Equities Limited  1,463,887 1.4%

HSBC Custody Nominees (Australia) Limited  1,410,408 1.4%

Bond Street Custodians Limited  1,379,892 1.3%

Mr Andrew Poole  1,171,386 1.1%

Citicorp Nominees Pty Limited  1,025,667 1.0%

The Australian National University Investment Section  1,000,000 1.0%

AMP Life Limited  868,200 0.8%

Famarn Pty Ltd  690,134 0.7%

Mirrabooka Investments Limited  667,394 0.7%

Government Superannuation Office  610,714 0.6%

 77,267,092 75.1%

CORPORATE DIRECTORY
Offices and officers

Company Secretary

Mr Andrew J Poole, B Com, MBA

Principal Registered Office

2 Maud Street
Mayfield West NSW 2304
Telephone: (02) 4941 2600
Facsimile: (02) 4967 5003

Locations of Share Registry

ASX Perpetual Registrars Limited
Level 8 580 George Street
Sydney NSW 2000
PO Box A2277
Sydney South NSW 1235
Telephone: (02) 8280 7519
Facsimile: (02) 9261 8489

Stock Exchange

The Company is listed on the Australian Stock 
Exchange. The Home Exchange is Sydney.

Other information

Bradken Limited, incorporated and domiciled in 
Australia, is a publicly listed company limited by 
shares.

ASX ADDITIONAL INFORMATION
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